

MICROPLASTIC POLLUTION AND REMOVAL IN WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANTS IN THAILAND

BY

KATEKANYA TADSUWAN

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (ENGINEERING AND TECHNOLOGY) SIRINDHORN INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY ACADEMIC YEAR 2022

THAMMASAT UNIVERSITY SIRINDHORN INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

DISSERTATION

BY

KATEKANYA TADSUWAN

ENTITLED

MICROPLASTIC POLLUTION AND REMOVAL IN WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANTS IN THAILAND

was approved as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Engineering and Technology)

on October 28, 2022

Chairperson

nom il

(Associate Professor Alice Sharp, Ph.D.)

(Professor Sandhya Babel, D.Tech.Sc.)

Member and Advisor

Member

Co. Horatok

(Professor Andreas Haarstrick, Ph.D.)

Member

(Associate Professor Pakorn Opaprakasit, Ph.D.)

m

Member

Director

T-Randa

(Associate Professor Parboon Sreearunothai, Ph.D.)

(Professor Pruettha Nanakorn, D.Eng.)

Dissertation Title	MICROPLASTIC POLLUTION AND
	REMOVAL IN WASTEWATER
	TREATMENT PLANTS IN THAILAND
Author	Katekanya Tadsuwan
Degree	Doctor of Philosophy (Engineering and
	Technology)
Faculty/University	Sirindhorn International Institute of Technology/
	Thammasat University
Dissertation Advisor	Professor Sandhya Babel, D.Tech.Sc.
Academic Years	2022

ABSTRACT

Microplastic (MP) is an emerging pollutant that requires urgent attention. Wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) are considered an important pathway to transport terrestrial MPs to water bodies. This study aims to investigate the level of MP pollution and removal at each treatment step to find the most efficient MP removal stage in four different WWTPs in Thailand. Removal efficiencies and the characteristics of MPs in the inlet of four WWTPs were compared. MP samples in three WWTPs were collected by filtration of wastewater through a set of sieves: 5 mm, 1 mm, 500 µm, and 53 µm. Grab sampling was performed in a WWTP built as a closed underground system. Sludge samples were collected from each WWTP by grab sampling. MPs found in the influent of four different WWTPs ranged from 3.50 - 77particles per L, and the effluent ranged from 2.33 - 30.33 particles per L. The highest MP concentration in the inlet was found in Bang Sue WWTP. Despite the high MP loads in the influent, Bang Sue WWTP achieved the highest removal efficiency of 86.14% and 96.97% from the conventional treatment system and UF as a final polishing step, respectively. One of the reasons is that it was constructed as an underground treatment system to prevent atmospheric contamination. On the other hand, Sing Buri WWTP, with a waste stabilization pond, attained very low MP removal efficiency from both grab sampling and on-site filtration. There was a high concentration of MPs from

atmospheric deposition in Sing Buri WWTP. The number of MPs detected in the influent of the largest WWTP in Bangkok (population equivalent to 1 million) is lower than Nong Khaem WWTP, which has a population equivalent to 520,000. Most of the MPs found in four WWTPs were fibers identified as polyethylene terephthalate (PET) or polyester. Fibers were derived from clothes shedding. Fragments identified as PE and films were less abundant. The results of this study show a variety of MP abundances in different WWTPs with different treatment technologies in Thailand. However, all of the studied conventional WWTPs, except the pond system, lack primary sedimentation which is reported to improve the removal of MPs. The addition of a primary sedimentation tank and advanced filtration as a final step in WWTP should be considered as it could decrease the number of MP released to the freshwater environment.

Keywords: Microplastic, Wastewater treatment plant, Sludge, Tertiary treatment, Waste stabilization pond

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my advisor, Prof. Dr. Sandhya Babel for her invaluable patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. This dissertation could not be succeeded without attentive support.

Further, I would like to extend my sincere thanks to my thesis committee, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Alice Sharp, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pakorn Opaprakasit, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Paiboon Sreearunothai, and Prof. Dr. Andreas Haarstrick for their valuable advice throughout this research.

I would like to thank for the financial support from Sirindhorn International Institute of Technology under an Excellent Thai Students (ETS) scholarship for my Ph.D. program.

I wish to acknowledge the help provided by the staff from Din Daeng, Nong Khaem, Bang Sue, and Sing Buri WWTPs for collecting samples and providing useful information. I am also grateful to the staff at the Department of Drainage and Sewerage, Bangkok Metropolitan Authorities, and Wastewater Management Authority for the permission for sample collection.

Lastly, my special thanks are extended to my parents for their support and for accompanying in collecting samples and to my colleagues in the laboratory for their assistance and advice.

Katekanya Tadsuwan

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	(1)
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	(3)
LIST OF TABLES	(8)
LIST OF FIGURES	(9)
LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS	(11)
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Problem statement	1
1.2 Research objectives	4
1.3 Scope of the study	4
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	7
2.1 Plastic materials	7
2.2 Plastic waste	9
2.3 Microplastics	10
2.3.1 Primary MP	12
2.3.2 Secondary MP	12
2.3.3 Degradation of plastics	13
2.3.4 Environmental impacts	15
2.4 MP contamination in WWTPs	16
2.4.1 Sources of MPs in WWTPs	16
2.4.2 Function of wastewater treatment plants	17

2.4.3 Removal of MPs by WWTPs	19
2.4.3.1 Preliminary and primary treatment	19
2.4.3.2 Secondary treatment	21
2.4.3.3 Tertiary treatment	21
2.4.4.4 Major treatment units for MPs removal	24
2.4.4 MP abundances and removal efficiencies of WWTPs	25
2.4.5 Retention of MPs in sewage sludge	29
2.5 Methods for MP analysis	29
2.5.1 Sampling methods	29
2.5.2 Sample preparation	31
2.5.2.1 Purification	32
2.5.2.2 Density separation	32
2.5.2.3 Nile Red staining	34
2.5.3 MP characterization	34
2.5.3.1 Visual Identification	34
2.5.3.2 Raman spectroscopy	35
2.5.3.3 Fourier-transform Infrared (FT-IR) spectroscopy	36
2.5.3.4 Pyrolysis-gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry	ÿ
(Pyr-GC/MS)	37
2.5.3.5 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)	37
CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY	40
3.1 Study sites	40
3.1.1 Nong Khaem WWTP	41
3.1.2 Din Daeng WWTP	42
3.1.3 Bang Sue WWTP	43
3.1.4 Sing Buri WWTP	44
3.2 Sampling methods	45
3.3 Sample processing	46

3.3.1 Wet peroxide oxidation	46
3.3.2 Density separation	46
3.3.3 Nile Red staining	47
3.3.4 Sludge samples	47
3.4 MP quantification and characterization	48
3.4.1 Visual identification	48
3.4.2 Polymer type identification	49
3.5 MP abundance and removal efficiency in WWTPs	49
3.6 Statistical analysis	50
3.7 Contamination mitigation	50
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	51
4.1 MP abundance and removal in the WWTPs	51
4.1.1 Nong Khaem WWTP	51
4.1.1.1 MP abundance	51
4.1.1.2 MP removability	53
4.1.1.3 MP morphologies and characterization	54
4.1.1.4 MP retention	55
4.1.2 Din Daeng WWTP	56
4.1.2.1 MP abundance	56
4.1.2.2 MP removability	58
4.1.2.3 MP morphologies and characterization	59
4.1.2.4 MP retention	61
4.1.3 Bang Sue WWTP	62
4.1.3.1 MP abundance	62
4.1.3.2 MP removability	64
4.1.3.3 MP morphologies and characterization	65
4.1.3.4 MP retention	67
4.1.4 Sing Buri WWTP	67

	4.1.4.1 MP abundance	67
	4.1.4.2 MP morphologies and characterization	69
	4.1.4.3 In situ filtration vs. grab sampling	71
	4.1.4.4 MP retention	72
	4.1.4.5 Atmospheric deposition	73
	4.2 Comparison of MP abundances and removability in WWTPs	75
	4.3 Size- and shape-based removal of MPs	78
	4.4 Potential sources of MPs in WWTPs	79
	4.5 MP contamination in sludge	81
	4.6 Limitations of sampling methods	83
	4.7 Gaps in the current WWTPs	84
	4.8 Potential solutions	84
CHA	PTER 5 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	87
	5.1 Conclusion	87
	5.2 Recommendation for future study	88
REF	ERENCES	89
APPI	ENDICES	
	APPENDIX A	115
	APPENDIX B	116
BIOO	GRAPHY	118

LIST OF TABLES

Tables	Page
2.1 Comparison of studies on MPs removal from WWTPs in different countries	27
2.2 A summary of sampling methods for collecting MPs from wastewater	
treatment plants	30
2.3 Purification and separation methods for MP samples from wastewater and	
sludge	33
2.4 Advantages and limitations of identification methods for MPs	38
3.1 Summary of four WWTPs in the study with population equivalent, treatment	
technologies, and treatment capacity per day	40
4.1 Removal efficiencies of different size fractions at each treatment unit based	
on the average number in Nong Khaem WWTP	53
4.2 Number of MPs released per day based on the treatment capacity from each	
sampling location in Nong Khaem WWTP	53
4.3 Removal efficiencies of different size fractions at each treatment unit based	
on the average number of MPs in Din Daeng WWTP	59
4.4 Number of MPs released per day based on the treatment capacity from each	
sampling location in Din Daeng WWTP	59
4.5 Removal efficiencies of different size fractions at each treatment unit based	
on the average number in Bang Sue WWTP	64
4.6 Number of MPs released per day based on the treatment capacity from each	
sampling location in Bang Sue WWTP	65
4.7 Number of MPs released per day from each sampling location based on the	
average number in Sing Buri WWTP	69
4.8 Summary of MP abundances and overall removal efficiencies of four studied	
WWTPs	75

LIST OF FIGURES

Figures	' age
1.1 Wastewater treatment plants as a pathway for microplastics	3
1.2 Flowchart of the overview of this study	6
2.1 Fractional demand of polymer type based on a global basis in 2016	8
2.2 SPI Plastic Coding System	9
2.3 Key sources and types of MP	11
3.1 Flow diagram of Nong Khaem WWTP with sampling locations	41
3.2 Flow diagram of Din Daeng WWTP with sampling locations	42
3.3 Flow diagram of Bang Sue WWTP with sampling locations	42
3.4 Flow diagram of Sing Buri WWTP with sampling locations	43
3.5 A summary of procedures for sample preparation for both wastewater and	
sludge samples	44
3.6 Quantification and characterization approach for different sample sizes	44
4.1 Percentage distribution of the different size classes of MPs from various	
locations in Nong Khaem WWTP	52
4.2 Number of MPs per liter of wastewater from treatment steps of Nong Khaem	
WWTP	52
4.3 Percentage distribution of shape categories in every treatment step of Nong	
Khaem WWTP	54
4.4 Polymer-type distribution of MPs from all sampling locations of Nong Khaem	
WWTP identified by FT-IR	55
4.5 MP abundance based on size classes in sewage sludge samples from Nong	
Khaem WWTP	56
4.6 Percentage distribution of the different size classes of MPs during wastewater	
treatment steps from Din Daeng WWTP	57
4.7 Number of MP particles per liter of wastewater from treatment steps of Din	
Daeng WWTP	58
4.8 Percentage distribution of shape categories in every treatment step of Din	
Daeng WWTP	60

4.9 Polymer-type distribution of MPs from all sampling locations of Din Daeng	
WWTP identified by FT-IR and micro-FTIR	61
4.10 MP abundance based on size classes in sewage sludge samples from Din	
Daeng WWTP	62
4.11 Percentage distribution of the different size classes of MPs during wastewater	
treatment steps of Bang Sue WWTP	63
4.12 Number of MP particles per liter of wastewater from treatment steps of	
Bang Sue WWTP	63
4.13 Percent distribution of different shapes of MP samples found at each	
sampling point in Bang Sue WWTP	65
4.14 Polymer-type distribution of MP samples from all sampling locations of	
Bang Sue WWTP	66
4.15 MP abundance based on size classes in sewage sludge samples from Bang	
Sue WWTP	67
4.16 Percentage distribution of the different size classes of MPs during wastewater	
treatment steps from Sing Buri WWTP	68
4.17 Number of MP particles per liter of wastewater from treatment steps of Sing	
Buri WWTP	68
4.18 Percent distribution of different shapes of MP samples found at each	
sampling point in Sing Buri WWTP	70
4.19 Polymer-type distribution of MP samples from all sampling locations of Sing	
Buri WWTP	71
4.20 Number of MP particles per L of wastewater at the influent and effluent of	
Sing Buri WWTP from in situ filtrations and grab sampling	72
4.21 MP abundance based on size classes in bottom sludge from Sing Buri WWTP	73
4.22 Size-based MP atmospheric deposition in Sing Buri WWTP	74
4.23 Shape percentage distribution of atmospheric MPs from Sing Buri WWTP	74
4.24 A scum skimmer at the clarifiers of Bang Sue WWTP	76
4.25 Size-based MP abundances in sludge from 4 WWTPs: Nong Khaem,	
Din Daeng, Bang Sue, and Sing Buri	82

LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS

Symbols/Abbreviations	Terms
A ² O	Anaerobic-Anoxic-Oxic
ATR	Attenuated total reflectance
BPA	Bisphenol A
CSO	Combined sewer overflow
DAPI	4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DDS	Department of Drainage and Sewerage
DI	Deionized
EPDM	Ethylene propylene diene monomer
EECC	Environmental Education and Conservation Center
ESEM-EDS	Environmental scanning microscopy-energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy
EU	European Union
FTIR	Fourier Transform Infrared
HDPE	High-density polyethylene
IR	Infrared radiation
LDPE	Low-density polyethylene
MBR	Membrane bioreactor
MP	Microplastic
NAFTA	North American Free Trade Agreement
PA	Polyamide
PAM	Polyacrylamide
PCD	Pollution Control Department
PE	Polyethylene

PES	Polyethersulfone
PET	Polyethylene terephthalate
POP	Persistent organic pollutant
PP	Polypropylene
PS	Polystyrene
PU	Polyurethane
PVC	Polyvinyl chloride
PVP	Polyvinylpyrrolidone
Pyr-GC/MS	Pyrolysis-gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
SEM-EDS	Scanning electron microscopy- energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy
SS	Sewage sludge
SPI	Society of Plastic Industry
RO	Reverse osmosis
TDRI	Thailand Development Research Institute
UF	Ultrafiltration
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States
UV	Ultraviolet
VLR	Vertical loop reactor
WPO	Wet peroxide oxidation
WWTP	Wastewater treatment plant

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Problem statement

Plastic is a synthetic polymer well-known as an inexpensive, lightweight, strong, durable, and corrosion-resistant material with thermal and electrical insulation properties (Thompson et al., 2009a). It has been widely used in many applications, including consumer products, construction, food packaging, and medical equipment (Agamuthu, 2018). The global production of plastic increased to 335 million tons in 2016, surpassing other man-made materials (Geyer et al., 2017). China was the most prominent plastic producer in 2020, accounting for 32% of worldwide production, followed by the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) countries and the rest of Asia (PlasticsEurope, 2021). The most significant proportion of plastic demand is packaging which accounts for 40.5% of the total demand (PlasticsEurope, 2021).

Plastic waste has become a global environmental concern due to a large amount of consumption. Plastic materials are produced from fossil-derived monomers which are non-biodegradable, such as ethylene and propylene (Geyer et al., 2017). Thus, due to its high stability and durability, plastic litter is highly persistent and tends to accumulate in many natural habitats and ends up in the ocean. The period that discarded plastics stay in the environment depends on the material's chemical nature, the environment's characteristics, and the degradation rate (Andrady & Neal, 2009). Environmental degradation can break down plastic debris into smaller size ranges, socalled microplastics (MPs), which are easily spread and ubiquitous in the marine environment (Cole et al., 2011). Thus, many studies have crucially investigated MP pollution to understand the abundance, pathway, and environmental impacts in freshwater and marine ecosystems.

MP is commonly defined as a plastic particle with a diameter ranging from 5 mm to 1 nanometer (Kershaw, 2015). It can be categorized into primary and secondary MPs. Primary MPs are manufactured in small sizes for industrial and domestic applications, such as virgin resin pellets, microbeads in personal care products, industrial scrubbers, and plastic powders. In contrast, secondary microplastics result

from the fragmentation of bigger-sized plastics (Talvitie et al., 2017a). MPs are ubiquitous in various environments, including freshwater, marine, and terrestrial ecosystems (Eerkes-Medrano et al., 2015). They were present in the guts of a wide range of marine organisms, such as zooplankton (Rashid et al., 2021), mussels (Avio et al., 2015), and fish (Piyawardhana et al., 2022). Moreover, MPs were detected in tap and drinking water (Kirstein et al., 2021).

Concerns have been raised regarding the potential impacts of MPs on the environment, wildlife, and human health. MPs can be ingested by many organisms, resulting in physical effects such as internal abrasions and blockage (Wright et al., 2013). Toxic effects from plastic materials, chemical additives, and toxins adsorbed on the surface can cause chronic toxicity to humans and other living organisms (Li et al., 2018a). Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) from the surrounding environment tend to adsorb on the MP surface (Wang et al., 2021a). These chemicals can be transferred to organisms at higher trophic levels leading to biomagnification and bioaccumulation (Agamuthu, 2018).

Recent studies have focused on the source of MP in the aquatic and marine environment. The origins of MPs can be both aquatic and land-based sources. One of the land-based sources of MPs besides surface runoff is wastewater effluent. As MPs have been detected in wastewater effluent, many studies suggested that wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) is a pathway for MPs (Conley et al., 2019; Murphy et al., 2016; Ziajahromi et al., 2017). MPs such as synthetic fibers and microbeads from personal care products in the effluent of treatment plants have been found in the ocean (Talvitie et al., 2015). In addition, more than one-third of MPs in the ocean are synthetic fibers released from washing machines (Boucher & Friot, 2017; Browne et al., 2011). A schematic illustration of WWTPs as a pathway for MPs to water bodies is shown in Figure 1.1. However, there is a gap in knowledge of the fate of MPs and their transport behavior in wastewater treatment plants (Talvitie et al., 2015). Due to the small size of MP, the efficiency of the wastewater treatment process in every step until the discharge of final effluent needs to be focused on.



Figure 1.1 Wastewater treatment plants as a pathway for microplastics

Thailand is a top-ten contributor to marine debris (TDRI, 2021). About 0.15 – 0.41 million tons of marine debris were annually created from mismanaged plastic waste in Thailand (Jambeck et al., 2015). There is evidence that MPs are present near the coastline and marine biota. A study conducted along the eastern coast of Thailand detected a large number of MPs derived from anthropogenic activities along 21 beaches (Bissen & Chawchai, 2020). Another study investigated the number of MPs in sessile invertebrates (Thushari et al., 2017). A significant accumulation was found in bivalves, gastropods, and barnacles, and it is used as an indicator of MP contamination in the area (Thushari et al., 2017). In addition, there was an occurrence of MPs in the gastrointestinal tract in demersal and pelagic fish from the marine environment in Thailand (Klangnurak & Chunniyom, 2020). MPs investigated in densely-populated beaches in Phuket were likely derived from fishing activities or wastewater effluent (Akkajit et al., 2019). Thus, WWTP is a final barrier before MPs enter the water bodies.

Bangkok is a highly populated city with more than 2 million households. There are five major wastewater treatment plants and more than 15 plants under the supervision and regulation of the Department of Drainage and Sewerage (Sewerage).

Treated wastewater is released into canals around Bangkok connected to the Chao Phraya River. The river is the major water source for Thailand, and it ends up in the Gulf of Thailand, which is a habitat for many marine lives. However, most of the WWTPs in Bangkok are conventional WWTPs. They are not designed to specially remove their minute-sized pollutants (Iyare et al., 2020).

There is a lack of studies on MPs in a wastewater treatment plant in Thailand that acts as a pathway for MP transport. Therefore, this study investigates the abundance of MPs present in each treatment step in the wastewater system to find the most crucial unit process for MPs removal. The overall MP removal efficiencies of each WWTP were calculated. It is essential to assess the morphologies and types of MPs in the wastewater treatment system to find their potential sources.

1.2 Research objectives

1. To investigate the level of MP pollution in wastewater treatment plants in Thailand.

2. To estimate the removal efficiencies of wastewater treatment plants in Thailand and find the most effective unit process for removing MPs.

3. To characterize morphologies and types of MPs.

4. To propose technological and management strategies related to the findings.

1.3 Scope of the study

Figure 1.1 depicts the overview of this study. MP samples were collected from four WWTPs in Thailand: three WWTPs with different treatment technologies in Bangkok and one WWTP with a pond system in less-populated areas. Three WWTPs in Bangkok employ a conventional activated sludge system to treat domestic wastewater but have different configurations. One of the selected WWTPs in Bangkok was equipped with pilot-scale ultrafiltration (UF) unit, the only tertiary treatment in all WWTPs in the study. MP samples were collected mainly from influent, during treatment processes, sewage sludge, and final effluent from each WWTP. MP samples from two WWTPs were collected by in situ filtration from the influent, after the grit removal, and the effluent due to the accessibility of the pipelines. Another WWTP with a UF unit was built as a closed underground system. MPs were collected by grab sampling from the influent, after fine screen and grit removal, after the aeration tanks, the effluent from secondary treatment, and the effluent from UF. In addition, MPs from waste stabilization ponds were collected from the influent, the effluent from an anaerobic pond, a facultative pond, and a maturation pond. In this study site, both in situ filtration and grab sampling was performed to find the influence of sampling methods on the number of MPs. Moreover, MPs from atmospheric deposition were analyzed in this WWTP due to the long retention time.

The smallest size of MPs analyzed in this study was 53 μ m in both wastewater and sludge samples. MPs were grouped into size ranges based on the sieve size. Samples were pre-treated to remove other organic and inorganic impurities. The abundances of 0.5 – 5 mm MPs were counted under an optical microscope. The 0.05 – 0.5 mm group was stained with Nile Red to perform fluorescence tagging for MP quantification. Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy in attenuated total reflectance mode (ATR) was employed to analyze polymer types of MPs larger than 0.5 mm. In contrast, smaller-sized MPs were analyzed by FTIR connected with a microscope (micro-FTIR) for more precise results. MP samples are prone to airborne contamination, affecting the false results; thus, procedural blanks were performed parallel to an actual sample, and contamination mitigation protocols were strictly followed.

MP removal at each treatment step was evaluated to find the most effective removal step. The overall MP removal efficiency of a WWTP was calculated based on the number of MPs in the influent and effluent. All studied WWTPs were compared to find the most efficient treatment technology for MP removal and improvement to prevent further release to the environment.



Figure 1.2 Flowchart of the overview of this study

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Plastic materials

Polymers are high molecular-weight organic molecules composed of repeated units called monomers (Valavanidis, 2016). Plastics are synthetic polymers prepared by the polymerization of monomers derived from fossil fuels together with some chemical additives to improve the properties of plastic (Gewert et al., 2015; Thompson et al., 2009b). The history of plastic began in the early 20th century when Bakelite, the first synthetic polymer, was invented (Geyer et al., 2017). The properties of plastic are strong, inexpensive, lightweight, durable, corrosion-resistant materials, and high thermal and electrical insulation, which make them suitable for a wide range of applications (Thompson et al., 2009a). The large scale of plastic production has continued to grow since then. It surpasses most other man-made materials such as metals, glass, papers, and other traditional materials due to its properties and low cost (Andrady & Neal, 2009; Geyer et al., 2017; Valavanidis, 2016). The total global production of plastic was 367 million tons in 2020, where half of the total production is in Asia (PlasticsEurope, 2021). In addition, the global trend has shifted from reusable plastic products to single-use plastic, which increases plastic packaging (Geyer et al., 2017). These disposable plastic products are designed to have a three-year service life; after that, they will be discarded (Gewert et al., 2015).

There are two main categories of plastics classified based on macromolecular structure and temperature-dependent physical properties; thermoplastics and thermosets (Klein, 2012). Thermoplastic consists of linear polymeric molecules without crosslinks (Shackelford, 2016). Thus, this type of plastic resin structure is resistant to chemicals and environmental effects (Klein, 2012). The application of heat can soften and melt thermoplastic, and it can be re-solidified by cooling (Klein, 2012; Shackelford, 2016). As thermoplastic is inexpensive, lightweight, and durable, it is used in many applications (Grigore, 2017). Another group of plastic is called thermosets, a hard and brittle material. The structure of thermosets is a narrow-crosslinked molecule,

making its mechanical properties not temperature-dependent like thermoplastics (Klein, 2012). Moreover, heat cannot melt thermosets, and chemical decomposition occurs when the temperature exceeds decomposing temperature (Klein, 2012).

Even though there are more than hundreds of types of plastics, only eight groups of plastic are qualified as commodity plastic due to their high volume and relatively low price (Andrady & Neal, 2009). These groups include low-density polyethylene (LDPE), high-density polyethylene (HDPE), polypropylene (PP), polyvinyl chloride (PVC), polystyrene (PS), polyurethane (PU), polyethylene terephthalate (PET) and other. The percentage of global demand for each plastic type in 2016 is shown in Figure 2.1. In addition, the packaging is the largest plastic market, accounting for 39.9% of the total demand in 2016 (Plastics Europe, 2017).



Figure 2.1 Fractional demand of polymer type based on a global basis in 2016 (adapted from Plastics Europe (2017)

Society of Plastic Industry (SPI) established a plastic coding system in 1988 for plastic packaging and containers for better waste sorting and recycling (The Office of Consumer Affairs, 2019). The majority of resin types in plastic products are divided into six groups: low-density polyethylene (LDPE), high-density polyethylene (HDPE), polypropylene (PP), polyvinyl chloride (PVC), polystyrene (PS), and polyethylene terephthalate (PET) (The Office of Consumer Affairs, 2019). The number is assigned to each resin type from 1 to 7 and printed on plastic products (Figure 2.2). PP is the most demanding polymer type in European Union (EU) countries followed by LDPE, and HDPE (PlasticsEurope, 2021). PP is a strong plastic with chemical resistance and is suitable for filling hot liquids because of its high melting point (American Chemistry Council, 2007). The applications of PP are mainly packaging, such as containers, bottle caps, and medicine bottles (American Chemistry Council, 2007). LDPE is used to manufacture reusable bags, containers, and packaging film, whereas HDPE is used for toys, bottles, pipes, and housewares (PlasticsEurope, 2021).



Figure 2.2 SPI Plastic Coding System

For the application of plastics, polymer resins are mixed with additives to improve the performance of the material, for example, the reinforcement from carbon and silica, pliability from plasticizers, thermal and ultraviolet stabilizers, flame retardants, and colorings (Thompson et al., 2009a). Moreover, some chemical additives used in the plastic industry can be released into the environment and are considered toxic (Thompson et al., 2009a). Additives raising public concerns include phthalate plasticizers, bisphenol A (BPA), brominated flame retardants, and anti-microbial agents (Thompson et al., 2009a). Therefore, plastic additives are strictly controlled in many countries, especially the application related to human health (Andrady & Neal, 2009). Plastic is not only persistent in the environment but also poses a risk to living organisms from chemical additives. Plastic becomes plastic waste if it is not disposed of or managed properly.

2.2 Plastic waste

The increase in the use of plastic has become problematic in waste management. Plastic waste accounts for approximately 10% of the total waste generation (Thompson et al., 2009b). Large amounts of plastic waste are discarded daily, accounting for 10% of the gasoline consumed and imported by the US in the past few decades (Valavanidis, 2016). Most single-use plastics, such as packaging, are disposed of in landfills, while only a small proportion is recycled (Barnes et al., 2009). However, the plastic waste problem is not as local as it was a few decades ago since the increasing amount of plastic pollution is found on land and water bodies (Valavanidis, 2016).

Plastic waste contributes to a large proportion of marine litter (Barboza et al., 2018). Routes of plastic litter from the continents to the oceans are stormwater runoff, dumping along shorelines, and direct dumping at sea from ships (Walker et al., 2019). The number of plastics entering the oceans was estimated to be between 4.8 to 12.7 million metric tons in 2010 (Jambeck et al., 2015). About 1.7-4.6% of plastic waste generated in the oceans is mismanaged solid waste in many coastal countries (Galgani et al., 2019; Hoornweg & Bhada-Tata, 2012; Jambeck et al., 2015). In Thailand, the amount of marine debris generated from mismanaged plastic waste was 0.15-0.41 metric tons per year (Jambeck et al., 2015). The country has been listed as a top ten contributor to marine debris (TDRI, 2021). In 2020, Thailand generated approximately 6,300 tons of plastic waste per day (PCD, 2021). Plastic waste management requires a lot of attention due to the high amount of plastic waste produced daily.

The mobility of plastic waste is much higher than other man-made materials due to its lightweight. Moreover, none of the commercial plastics are biodegradable (Geyer et al., 2017). Due to its stability and durability, plastic is resistant to degradation and tends to accumulate in the environment (Gewert et al., 2015). A lifetime of discarded plastic depends on the chemical composition of materials, the characteristics of the environment, and the degree of degradation (Andrady & Neal, 2009). Plastic decomposition may take several to a hundred years (Avio et al., 2017). Moreover, plastic waste can be slowly degraded into smaller plastic particles, called 'microplastic', which spread easily and become pollution in the marine environment (Valavanidis, 2016).

2.3 Microplastics

Microplastic (MP) is usually defined as particles with sizes smaller than 5 mm to as small as 10 nm (Agamuthu, 2018; Avio et al., 2017). Owing to their minute sizes,

they are challenging to monitor. Sources and the formation put MPs into two big categories: primary and secondary MP (Talvitie et al., 2017a). The key sources, types, and how MPs are formed are shown in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3 Key sources and types of MP (adapted from Kershaw, 2015)

2.3.1 Primary MP

Primary MPs, called 'plastic pellets', are manufactured directly in microscopic size for industrial and domestic products (Cole et al., 2011). They are mainly used in air blasting technology in industrial scrubbers and abrasive agents in personal care products in the form of microbeads (Cole et al., 2011; Conkle et al., 2018). The use of MP scrubbers in cosmetic products has significantly increased since 1988, and they come in various sizes, shapes, and compositions, according to the companies (Li et al., 2016). Moreover, primary MP can be produced as virgin resin pellets, with a size of 5 mm, to be used as feedstock for plastic manufacturing (Eerkes-Medrano et al., 2015). Improper handling at the processing facilities might cause the contamination of MP particles in surrounding water bodies (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2017). Therefore, legislation in some consumer products, especially rinse-off cosmetics (Conkle et al., 2018). Microbeads have been officially banned in Thailand since January 2020 (FDA, 2019).

2.3.2 Secondary MP

Secondary MPs result from plastic weathering or fragmentation during their presence in the environment or the use phase of plastic (Rochman et al., 2016). This type of plastic constitutes the majority of MPs found in the ocean, where 75-90% of MPs originated from land-based activities (Duis & Coors, 2016; Hidalgo-Ruz et al., 2012). Littering, dumping plastic waste, and loss during landfilling and waste collection are important routes for MP to enter the environment (Duis & Coors, 2016). Typically, once the waste is deposited in the landfill, it is later covered with soil or synthetic material. A fence surrounds the landfill site to prevent wind loss (Duis & Coors, 2016). In addition, natural disasters, such as hurricanes, tsunamis, and storms, are contributed to the distribution of MPs in the ocean (Duis & Coors, 2016). Other secondary MPs are from plastic mulching which LDPE film is used in agriculture, abrasion of plastic materials, paints, plastic coating, the release of fibers from synthetic textiles and hygiene products, and material lost from fishing vessels and aquaculture facilities (Duis & Coors, 2016).

The study by Browne et al. (2011) found that the significant source of MP pollution in the marine environment is synthetic fiber from clothes (Browne et al., 2011). Most of the fibers detected were polyester, followed by acrylic, discharged mainly from the washing machines rather than the fragmentation of plastic cleaning tools (Li et al., 2016). Even though the efficiency of wastewater treatment facilities is nearly 99%, the amount of MPs released from the effluent is still significant (Li et al., 2016).

2.3.3 Degradation of plastics

Exposure to physical, chemical, and biological processes over a long period of time might lead to the reduction of structural integration followed by fragmentation of larger plastic (Browne et al., 2007a; Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2017). These are the processes that break down break down macro-plastic (size > 5 mm) into MP (size < 5 mm). Physical degradation is an essential pathway to the formation of MP. It can be weathering elements, such as wetting/drying cycle, heating/cooling, and thawing/freezing, or abrasive forces made by animals or other abiotic factors in the environment, such as wind/water turbulence (Da Costa et al., 2016). This type of degradation does not alter the polymeric structure but decreases the size of particles and leads to morphological changes (Da Costa et al., 2018).

The degradation by ultraviolet (UV) radiation or photodegradation is the most efficient abiotic degradation occurred in the environment at the ambient condition. Plastic containing unsaturated chromophoric groups can absorb both visible light and high-energy UV radiation leading to photoinitiated chemical oxidation at the surface (Gewert et al., 2015). However, some types of plastic, such as PE and PP, do not contain chromophores, but the degradation is initiated by external impurities or structural abnormalities in macromolecule structure (Gewert et al., 2015). The molecular weight of photo-oxidized polymers becomes lower from bond scission and reduces mechanical strength. Plastic particles will become brittle and susceptible to fragmentation. When plastic fragments into smaller pieces, a higher surface area is ready for further biodegradation. Moreover, the photodegradation of plastic can lead to the leaching of chemical additives into the surrounding environment (Cole et al., 2011).

Thermal degradation is another factor that alters the properties of plastic because of the bond scissions of the main polymeric chain. Thermo-degradation can induce oxidation, leading to changes in tensile strength, molecular weight, crystallinity, and color of the materials (Da Costa et al., 2016). Plastic material with thermal pretreatment, such as PP, is more subject to biodegradation (Da Costa et al., 2016). However, this mechanism does not generally occur since the melting temperature is higher than the environmental condition.

Moreover, plastic can undergo chemical degradation when polymers are in contact with chemicals, such as acid, base, solvent, and reactive gas (Klein et al., 2018; Wilczura-Wachnik). Chemical reactions involved in the deterioration of plastic are typical oxidation and hydrolysis (Matsumura, 2005). Oxidation strips out the side groups of polymers and produces acidic degradation products (Gewert et al., 2015). The oxidized polymers are prone to further degradation, and the acid catalyze can cause crazing to the material. Oxidation reactions can also be UV-induced or hydrolytically. Some polymers containing ester and ether groups are prone to hydrolytic degradation when submerged in water because these functional groups are covalently bonded (Engineer et al., 2011). In the hydrolytic reaction of polymers, the cleavage of the ester bond is controlled by the rate constant, the amount of absorbed water, the diffusion coefficient of chain fragments, and the solubility of the degraded product (Engineer et al., 2011). It results in a decrease in molecular weight and mechanical strength.

After physical and structural degradation, polymers are more subject to biodegradation because of the larger surface area for microorganisms to colonize. Extracellular enzyme-forming monomers or oligomers depolymerize plastic in aerobic and anaerobic conditions (Fotopoulou & Karapanagioti, 2019; Klein et al., 2018). After polymers are broken down into smaller molecules which can be assimilated into microbial cells, polymers can be depolymerized by intercellular enzymes and mineralized by microorganisms (Shah et al., 2008). The process of mineralization is the degradation of polymer into the end products such as CO₂, H₂O, and CH₄, which bacteria will later utilize (Shah et al., 2008). Moreover, different groups of bacteria can degrade different types of plastics. For example, *Brevibacillus borstelensis* is able to degrade PE (Hadad et al., 2005).

Plastic debris on beaches is directly exposed to UV radiation and high oxygen availability (Cole et al., 2011). The degradation rate of such an environment is higher than plastic floating in the ocean (Browne et al., 2007b). Plastic particles on the beach degrade rapidly, turning brittle and yellow, and due to loss of structural integrity, they are more susceptible to abrasion from winds and waves (Barnes et al., 2009; Cole et al., 2011). However, adding chemical additives such as UV, heat stabilizers, and anti-oxidants can retard light-induced degradation (Rochman et al., 2016).

Plastic waste disposed of in the environment can be degraded or broken down into MPs by various factors i.e., physical, chemical, and biological processes. Due to the large amount of plastic waste generated, the presence of MPs is ubiquitous in every environmental matrix.

2.3.4 Environmental impacts

Due to its widespread ubiquity of MP in the marine environment has raised scientific concern about the adverse effects of MP particles. The size is small, so they become bioavailable to a wide range of organisms through ingestion (Cole et al., 2011). Animals like birds and turtles mistake plastic particles for food, and there is a trace of plastic ingestion in more than 44% of marine bird species (Hohenblum et al., 2015). In addition, more than 35% of the fish sample from the North Pacific central gyre had MPs in the guts(Johansson & Ericsson, 2018). The effects of plastic ingestion include blockage of the intestinal tract, inhibition of gastric enzyme secretion, reduced feeding stimuli, decreased steroid hormone levels, delays in ovulation, and failure to reproduce (Li et al., 2016).

Moreover, some toxic effects might be associated with ingested MP particles from the leaching of chemical additives and the adhered pollutant on the MP surface (Cole et al., 2011). Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are one of the toxic pollutants which can coat MP surfaces (Johansson & Ericsson, 2018). Since MPs can travel long distances, POPs are transported with them and pollute far-away ecosystems (Johansson & Ericsson, 2018). Moreover, POPs can transfer to humans through seafood consumption since MPs are found in fish, mollusks, and crustaceans (Johansson & Ericsson, 2018). For example, a significant amount of MP was found in 3 species of sessile invertebrates collected from the eastern coast of Thailand (Thushari et al., 2017).

2.4 MP contamination in WWTPs

There is evidence that MPs are found in WWTPs. Potential sources of MPs in WWTPs, the removal of MPs by WWTPs, and the retention of MPs in the sludge are discussed in this section.

2.4.1 Sources of MPs in WWTPs

It has been reported that there is a widespread distribution of MPs in freshwater ecosystems. MPs can be from marine and land-based origins. One of the land-based sources of MPs is wastewater effluents. Many studies suggested that WWTPs are pathways for MPs to enter water bodies as MPs were found in wastewater effluent (Conley et al., 2019; Murphy et al., 2016; Ziajahromi et al., 2017). The study by Browne et al. (2011) found that MP samples from shoreline sediment and wastewater effluent disposal sites along the shoreline are of similar types, mostly polyester and acrylic fiber (Browne et al., 2011). Moreover, Talvitie et al. detected similar types of fibers and synthetic particles in both tertiary effluent from the wastewater treatment plant and seawater from the Gulf of Finland (Talvitie et al., 2015).

WWTPs receive terrestrial MPs before releasing to the aquatic environment. Thus, MPs in the wastewater treatment system come from various sources. Primary MPs in the form of microbeads in WWTPs mainly originate from cosmetics and personal care products such as toothpaste, soap, and scrub (Carr et al., 2016). Microbeads are mostly made of PE (Napper et al., 2015), and they are directly rinsed down household drains and enter the wastewater treatment system (Carr et al., 2016; Ngo et al., 2019). Up to 94,500 microbeads can be released from a single use of an exfoliant (Napper et al., 2015). Many countries have started to ban the use of microbeads in consumer products (Conkle et al., 2018). Industrial scrubbers are another form of primary MPs present in WWTPs. They are used in blasting clean surfaces, molding, and other processes, and are discharged directly into the wastewater collection system (Ngo et al., 2019).

Secondary MPs from the fragmentation of larger plastics are also found in WWTPs. MP fibers and filaments in wastewater treatment systems originate from the breakdown of synthetic textiles during washing (Hernandez et al., 2017). The major types of MP fibers in WWTPs are polyester, acrylic, and polyamide (Browne et al., 2011; Hernandez et al., 2017). A single garment wash can shed more than 1,900 fibers (Browne et al., 2011). In addition, a study by Napper and Thompson (2016) showed that an estimated 700,000 fibers are released by washing 6 kg of textiles from acrylic fibers (Napper & Thompson, 2016). Clothing can shed more fibers with higher washing temperatures and using detergent (Yang et al., 2019b). Fibers become problematic because of their higher volume-to-area ratio than other types of MPs (Astrom, 2016). MP fibers are likely to adsorb more chemicals and transfer them to living organisms.

Some secondary MPs are created by the breakdown of packaging, textile, and tires in concrete and highway construction (Kole et al., 2017). These MPs are present in the atmosphere and enter WWTPs through the wet sedimentation process (Ngo et al., 2019). Tire and road particles are considered important sources of MPs in the environment (Lassen et al., 2012). These particles are dispersed in the environment via several pathways: air emission, transportation by rainwater runoff into the soil, sewer systems, and surface water (Kole et al., 2017). Another source of MPs in sewer systems is landfill leachate. Plastic waste is buried in landfills under severe environmental conditions causing fragmentation into MPs (He et al., 2019). These MPs enter WWTPs through the discharge of leachate.

2.4.2 Function of wastewater treatment plants

WWTPs receive wastewater from households, businesses, industries, and sometimes urban runoff through combined sewer systems. WWTPs are designed to remove wastewater's solid debris, nutrients, and other organic pollutants. A conventional wastewater treatment system consists of preliminary, primary, and secondary treatment steps. Tertiary treatment is sometimes employed to improve the quality of treated wastewater.

The objective of preliminary treatment is to remove large solids and other materials in raw wastewater (Sonune & Ghate, 2004). Coarse and fine screens are

responsible for diminishing large debris (Duis & Coors, 2016). Removed solids at this stage consist of wood, cloth, paper, plastics, garbage, and sometimes fecal matter (Sonune & Ghate, 2004). Sizes of coarse screen range from 6-150 mm, and fine screens are smaller than 6 mm in different WWTPs (Iyare et al., 2020). Grit chambers in preliminary treatment remove sand and other heavy particles (Tang & Hadibarata, 2021). Primary treatment is designed to remove organic and inorganic solids by sedimentation and floatation (Sonune & Ghate, 2004). Settleable solids are removed in a sedimentation tank in primary treatment. As a result, the total suspended solid of wastewater is reduced in this step (Westphalen & Abdelrasoul, 2018). Air floatation utilizes air bubbles to enhance the float of contaminants, such as solids and fibers, and allows them to be captured with oil and grease during mechanical skimming (Ngo et al., 2019).

The secondary treatment utilizes biological processes to remove further suspended solids and nutrients (Mason et al., 2016). These processes can efficiently eliminate biodegradable organic matter (Crini & Lichtfouse, 2019). Biological processes commonly used in secondary treatment in WWTPs include the activated sludge process, trickling filter, and rotating biological contractors (Westphalen & Abdelrasoul, 2018). Flocculation is a wastewater treatment process for suspended solids removal (Picos-Corrales et al., 2020). The formation of flocs is induced by a variety of flocculation agents such as polyacrylamide (PAM), aluminum salt polymers (Al₂(SO₄)₃), and iron salt polymers (FeSO₄; FeCl₃) (Li et al., 2020; Picos-Corrales et al., 2020; Zhang, 2014). Flocs settle to the bottom of the tank during the sedimentation process and are removed. Sewage sludge is a residue from the settling tank of wastewater treatment processes. There are several types of sludge treatment, e.g., lime stabilization, anaerobic digestion, composting, and thermal drying, before the sludge is applied to agricultural lands (Mahon et al., 2017).

Subsequently, tertiary treatment is introduced in some wastewater treatment plants. This step is specially designed to remove specific inorganic and organic pollutants to improve the discharge quality of treated wastewater (Iyare et al., 2020). Pollutants further removed by tertiary treatment are nutrients, pathogens, nonbiodegradable compounds, heavy metals, dissolved solids and suspended solids, and micropollutants (Bassin et al., 2021). Thus, the final effluent meets a higher standard and can be reused for specific purposes such as irrigation, recreation, and drinking water (Gerba & Pepper, 2019). Types of tertiary treatment processes involve physicochemical processes such as coagulation, filtration, carbon adsorption, reverse osmosis, and disinfection (Gerba & Pepper, 2019).

2.4.3 Removal of MPs by WWTPs

Each treatment unit has different functions for removing specific contaminants. The effect of each wastewater treatment step on the removal of MPs is presented in this section.

2.4.3.1 Preliminary and primary treatment

Preliminary and primary treatments remove MPs based on physical mechanisms. A study by Murphy et al. showed that the grit and grease removal stage can efficiently eliminate MPs from raw wastewater (Murphy et al., 2016). Air bubbles from air floatation technology allow low-density MPs to float (Ngo et al., 2019). Lightweight MPs are captured along with the floating grease during skimming (Sun et al., 2019). Microbeads made of polyethylene PE are positively buoyant, thus, they can be easily skimmed off at the surface layer (Murphy et al., 2016). Ziajahromi et al. (2021) showed 69-79% MP removal by screening and grit removal stage (Ziajahromi et al., 2021). Primary treatment consecutively removes MPs by sedimentation process. Fibers and large-sized MPs can be easily separated by trapping in solid flocs and settling heavy particles during primary treatment (Liu et al., 2021). Primary sedimentation significantly removed fibers rather than synthetic particles (Talvitie et al., 2015). These findings correspond to a study by Carr et al. that fibers and MP fragments derived from personal care products were largely removed during the skimming and settling stages (Carr et al., 2016). On the contrary, Liu et al. (2021) found that grit and grease removal is not an effective step for MP removal. In contrast, the primary settling stage exhibited excellent removal efficiency (Liu et al., 2021). However, the removal efficiency at this stage also depends on the density and shapes of MPs in raw wastewater (Ngo et al., 2019).

The combination of grit and grease removal with the primary sedimentation could improve the removal rate of MPs (Liu et al., 2021). The efficiency of sedimentation together with an aerated grit chamber in removing MPs was 40.7% in Wuhan, China (Liu et al., 2019). The sedimentation process reduced MPs by up to 71.67% in Beijing, China, and 91.7% in Vancouver, Canada (Gies et al., 2018). Two studies achieved higher efficiencies from the sedimentation process due to denser polymers of MPs, such as PET and polyester, which can be easily eliminated by physical sedimentation (Ngo et al., 2019). On the other hand, low-density MPs (PE and PP) and moderate-density MPs (PS and polyamide: PA) can float at the surface of the sedimentation tank by air floatation technology (Ngo et al., 2019). Therefore, the density of MP particles significantly influences the removal by sedimentation and skimming processes.

The morphology of MPs is another factor that influences the removal rate. Fibers are considered the most shape of MPs to remove from wastewater (Long et al., 2019). On the contrary, fragments and granules are the most straightforward shape to eliminate from the wastewater stream (Long et al., 2019). The surface of fibers and pellets are smoother than other shapes, which makes them less resistant to wastewater and more difficult to be captured by treatment technologies (Anderson et al., 2018), whereas the angular, bifurcate. The twisted shape of fragments and granules increases the ability to be captured in solid flocs and the chance of microbial colonization for a higher degree of sedimentation and degradation (Ngo et al., 2019).

Fibers are considered the most challenging type of MPs to retain in WWTPs. Even though they are trapped during flocculation and settling, due to their longitudinal shape, fibers can easily escape treatment processes (Liu et al., 2021). The neutral buoyant property of fibers also hinders the removal by the skimming process (Ngo et al., 2019). Studies found that fibrous MPs are the dominant shape in wastewater effluent (Zhang et al., 2021; Ziajahromi et al., 2017; Zou et al., 2021). Since WWTPs cannot completely remove this type of MPs regarding its nature, it is crucial to focus on reducing fibers at sources.

2.4.3.2 Secondary treatment

The secondary treatment step employs biological processes to reduce further suspended and dissolved solids remaining in wastewater from primary treatment (Iyare et al., 2020). MPs are captured by the accumulation of MPs in the sludge flocs (Ngo et al., 2019). Flocs containing MPs are eliminated after settling in the clarification tanks. Flocculation agents added in secondary treatment enhance the aggregation of suspended solids and capture MPs in the sludge flocs (Murphy et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2019). However, MPs trapped in unstable flocs might result in a redistribution of particles in the tank and subsequent escape during clarification (Carr et al., 2016). Factors influencing MP removal in activated sludge processes are retention time and nutrient levels (Carr et al., 2016; Rummel et al., 2017). Smaller MPs (106-300 μ m) have a higher removal rate by secondary treatment than larger MPs (>300 μ m) because small particles are easily adsorbed to sticky media such as biofilm or floc (Lee & Kim, 2018).

However, some configurations of secondary treatment processes do not remove MPs efficiently. For example, Anaerobic-anoxic-oxic (A^2O) process is the most widely used system in WWTPs. A^2O showed a relatively low removal rate of MPs due to the sludge being returned, and about 20% of MPs attached to the sludge would return to the aqueous phase (Liu et al., 2021). The biodegradation rate of MPs in A^2O is low due to the short hydraulic retention time, which is ineffective for microbial degradation (Liu et al., 2021). Therefore, this study concluded that a conventional activated sludge process is not ideal for MP removal.

2.4.3.3 Tertiary treatment

Tertiary treatments, including variations of filtration processes, further removed MPs by 5-20% after the secondary treatment (Iyare et al., 2020). The application of tertiary treatment technologies can increase the overall MP removal efficiency of WWTPs by 10-97% (Sun et al., 2019). MP removal efficiency of a WWTP with membrane bioreactor (MBR) technology was reported as 99.9% (Talvitie et al., 2017a). Another study with a pilot scale MBR also achieved a 99.4% MP removal rate with a pore size of 0.4 μ m (Lares et al., 2018). However, a study by Lv et al. (2019) reported

99.5% removal based on MP mass, but only 82.1% of the number of MPs were removed (Lv et al., 2019). Bayo et al. (2020a) demonstrated a 79.01% MP removal rate of a WWTP with MBR. It was concluded that advanced technologies did not perform better than conventional systems (Bayo et al., 2020a). Adsorption is essential in MP removal within the MBR system (Liu et al., 2021).

Membrane filtration, such as ultrafiltration (UF), is another technology in tertiary treatment that helps reduce the concentration of MPs by intercepting larger MPs than the pore size of membranes (Liu et al., 2021). The sizes of MPs are generally larger than the pore size of the membrane; thus, the UF completely rejects MP particles (Ma et al., 2019). Hydrophobic interactions and surface repulsion forces control the adsorption rate of MPs on membrane surfaces (Enfrin et al., 2020). Several studies reported that WWTPs equipped with UF units attained more than 95% removal efficiencies (Mintenig et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019a; Ziajahromi et al., 2017). UF, together with reverse osmosis (RO), completely eliminated particles >190 μ m, while smaller particles were retained in the tertiary effluent (Ziajahromi et al., 2017). However, membrane fouling must be strictly controlled to ensure the long-term operation of membrane filtration (Kumar & Ismail, 2015).

Biofilters are another tertiary technology designed to degrade specific dissolved pollutants such as pharmaceuticals (Zhang et al., 2019). A study by Liu et al. (2020) reported that biofilter as a polishing step completely removed MPs larger than 100 μ m (Liu et al., 2020). Liu et al. (2021) showed that biofilters had the highest removal performance of MPs among other treatment technologies (Liu et al., 2021). MPs in a biofilter process are removed by the mechanisms of biofilm filtration and adsorption (Liu et al., 2021). MPs and excess microbes were easily eliminated from the biofilter by backwashing in the ascendant water flow (Rocher et al., 2012).

Sand filtration is filtration-based technology used in tertiary treatment. Sand filtration was found to reduce MP concentration from the secondary effluent by 50% (Magni et al., 2019). A WWTP with rapid sand filtration had a removal rate of 97% (Talvitie et al., 2017a). It is also considered a simple and cost-effective method compared to membrane filtration (Iyare et al., 2020). However, a study by Carr et al.
(2016) found that the effect of the gravity sand filter on MP removal was minimal (Carr et al., 2016). This study concluded that MPs were mainly removed in primary treatment during the skimming and settling.

Advanced oxidation processes, including chlorination and UV oxidation, are commonly used in WWTPs. The chlorination process increased MP abundances in WWTPs by cracking MPs from the attack of chlorine (Kelkar et al., 2019; Lv et al., 2019; Ruan et al., 2019). Chlorination altered MPs' physical and chemical properties as chlorine is a potent oxidizing agent (El-Shahawi et al., 2010). This change in the carbon-chlorine bond of MPs results in a higher adsorption and accumulation rate of other harmful contaminants (Wang et al., 2018). UV oxidation changed MP topography and chemical characteristics (Cooper & Corcoran, 2010). UV-oxidation at the surface of MPs produced cracks and flakes, which were easy to break into more minor MPs and nano-plastics (Cai et al., 2018). However, the toxicity of UV-oxidized MPs is still unknown. Ozone is another oxidation process for removing inorganic ions and refractory organic pollutants in wastewater (Hidayaturrahman & Lee, 2019). Ozone shows a good influence on polymer degradation. A degradation rate of more than 90% was reached after a 30-min exposure to ozone (Chen et al., 2018). It has been suggested that even with the high cost of ozone as a strong oxidant, treated water has a lower quantity of residue (Chen et al., 2018). Hidayaturrahman and Lee (2019) found that a WWTP with ozone technology had the highest percentage removal of MPs among other WWTPs with disc-filter and rapid sand filtration at the tertiary treatment step. The ozonation reduced 89.9% of MPs after the coagulation process (Hidayaturrahman & Lee, 2019). Fitri et al. (2021) detected weight loss and structural changes in PE treated with ozone and suggested ozonation as a pre-treatment step prior to the biodegradation of PE MPs (Fitri et al., 2021).

On the contrary, not all types of advanced and tertiary treatments are suitable for MP removal. A study found that MP concentration in the effluent from tertiary granular filtration was not lower than the secondary WWTPs (Sutton et al., 2016). Talvitie et al. (2017b) found no significant impact of active biological filters on MP reduction (Talvitie et al., 2017b). Small-sized MPs (20 μ m to 100 μ m) escaped all treatment stages and were released into recipient water (Cesa et al., 2017).

2.4.4.4 Major treatment units for MPs removal

Several studies suggested that skimming and settling processes are the most effective unit for MP removal (Carr et al., 2016; Murphy et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2021). Large-sized fragments tend to settle during primary sedimentation (Liu et al., 2021). Due to the positive buoyancy, PE fragments derived from personal care products can be easily skimmed during grease removal (Murphy et al., 2016). On the contrary, some studies reported that biological processes in secondary treatment play an important role in MPs removal (Jiang et al., 2022; Yang et al., 2021a). The removal rate of MPs during this stage can be as high as 95.2% (Jiang et al., 2022). However, the most effective step for MP retention is still controversial. The secondary treatment removed < 20% of MPs in primary effluent (Okoffo et al., 2019). Anaerobic-anoxicoxic (A²O) process attained a lower removal rate than the activated sludge process (Liu et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2019a; Ziajahromi et al., 2017). In the A²O process, MPs are likely to return to the system when sludge is recycled (Liu et al., 2021). On the contrary, a study showed no significant difference in MP removal from three configurations of the activated sludge process (Lee & Kim, 2018). Therefore, the results of removal efficiency by secondary treatment are still uncertain.

The tertiary treatment acts as a final polishing step which can increase the overall percentage removal of WWTPs (Talvitie et al., 2017a). In this stage, MPs with specific properties and very small particle sizes are efficiently removed (Liu et al., 2021). No MP was found in the effluent of a WWTP with tertiary treatment in a study by Carr et al. (Carr et al., 2016). MBR has become the most popular technology for removing contaminants regarding its high removal capability, and it is the most efficient MP removal method among other advanced technologies (Hamidian et al., 2021; Ngo et al., 2019). MBR technology has been suggested as the most cost-effective method for MP removal (Vuori & Ollikainen, 2022). Despite an effective removal by MBR, the WWTP still releases 800,000 fibers daily (Michielssen et al., 2016). Fibers can pass through a filter with a pore size as small as 0.08 μ m (Leslie et al., 2017). Small-sized MPs (20-100 μ m) bypassed every treatment step, including tertiary treatments (Salvador Cesa et al., 2017).

2.4.4 MP abundances and removal efficiencies of WWTPs

The abundance of MPs in WWTPs is influenced by various factors such as population served, type of wastewater (municipal or industrial), economy, and lifestyle of surrounding communities (Liu et al., 2021). The population is positively correlated to the abundance of MPs in WWTPs (Zou et al., 2021). A higher number of MPs were detected in municipal and industrial WWTPs than in municipal WWTPs (Liu et al., 2021). Human activities in the served catchment, such as wearing synthetic clothes and using plastic products, affect MP discharge from households to WWTPs (Sun et al., 2019). In addition, factors such as the combined sewer system, flow rate of the WWTP, and tertiary filtration also affect the number of MPs in the effluent (Mason et al., 2016). MPs from other sources, such as combined sewer overflows and runoff, possibly enter the WWTPs during the peak flow rate (Hamidian et al., 2021). The variability of MP concentration also depends on sampling, isolation, and detection method, as well as the smallest mesh size (Iyare et al., 2020). A study using a 10 μ m filter reported a significantly higher number of MPs (Vollertsen & Hansen, 2017). Thus, comparing different studies is still challenging due to a lack of standardized methods.

Several studies have reported negligible MP concentrations (lower than 0.5 MPs/L) in the WWTP effluents (Lv et al., 2019; Razeghi et al., 2021). However, a large volume of treated wastewater is discharged daily. Murphy et al. estimated the amount of MP entering the aquatic environment to be 6.5×10^7 per day (Murphy et al., 2016). In China, approximately 6.5×10^8 MPs are discharged daily from seven WWTPs into Xiamen Bay (Long et al., 2019). Municipal WWTPs in the US were estimated to discharge approximately 4 million MPs/facility/day (Mason et al., 2016). Higher MP concentrations were detected downstream from WWTP effluent outfall sites in nine rivers in the US (McCormick et al., 2016).

Table 2.1 summarizes studies on MPs in the WWTPs and their removal efficiencies by different treatment technologies. Removal efficiencies range from 40 to 99.9% with different lowest mesh sizes. A study by Carr et al. (2016) found that the removal efficiency of WWTP was 99.9% from secondary treatment effluent, and no MP particle was found in the effluent of tertiary treatment (Carr et al., 2016). It is also further suggested that secondary and tertiary treatment processes significantly

contribute to MP removal. In addition, the investigation of Mintenig et al. found that a WWTP where there is additionally installed post-filtration can remove up to 97% of MP pollution.

On the other hand, WWTPs without this technology showed a considerable number of MPs (Mintenig et al., 2017). Murphy et al. (2016) examined a WWTP with only primary and secondary treatment and demonstrated a 98.41% removal by skimming and settling stage (Murphy et al., 2016). On the contrary, a WWTP with an oxidation ditch showed relatively low removal based on MP number (53.6%) but 97% based on mass (Lv et al., 2019). An MBR system from a study by (Lv et al., 2019) reduced 82.1% of MPs based on the number and 99.5% based on mass. Moreover, there is a variation in the removal percentage of a WWTP with a disc filter (40-98.5%) (Talvitie et al., 2017a). Due to the different lowest ends of the mesh and sampling methods, there might be variability in the results.



Location	Type of facility	Mesh size	Influent (MPs/L)	Effluent (MPs/L)	Removal efficiency	References
US	Seven tertiary treatment plants and one secondary treatment plant	0.4 to 0.02 mm	N/A	0.0088 to not detected	99.9% in tertiary plants	Carr et al. (2016)
Scotland	Primary and secondary treatments	0.065 mm	15.70±5.23	0.25±0.04	98.41%	Murphy et al. (2016)
Finland	WWTPs with different tertiary treatments (A) Membrane bioreactor (MBR) (B) Rapid sand filter (C) Dissolved air floatation (D) Disc-filter	0.3, 0.1, and 0.02 mm	(A) 6.9±1.0 (B) 0.7±0.1 (C) 2.0±0.07 (D) 0.5-2.0	(A) 0.005 (B) 0.02 (C) 0.1 (D) 0.03-0.3	 (A) 99.9% (B) 97% (C) 95% (D) 40-98.5% 	(Talvitie et al., 2017a)
Germany	12 WWTPs 6 with primary skimming tanks, 4 with tertiary treatment	0.01 mm	N/A	0-0.05 (MPs>0.5 mm) 0.01-9 (MPs<0.5 mm)	97% with post- filtration	Mintenig et al. (2017)
Australia	3 WWTPs (A) Only primary treatment (B) Primary and secondary processes with UV disinfection (C) Tertiary treatment with disinfection, ultrafiltration, reverse osmosis (RO), and decarbonation	0.5, 0.19, 0.1, 0.025 mm	N/A	(A) 1.5 (B) 0.48 (C) 0.28 after UF and 0.21 after RO	90% after tertiary treatment ^a	Ziajahromi et al. (2017)
China	Two parallel treatment systems 1. Oxidation ditch	0.5, 0.25, 0.125, 0.625, and 0.025 mm	0.28±0.02	1. 0.13±0.01 2. 0.05±0.01	1. 53.6% (97%) ^b 2. 82.1% (99.5%) ^b	Lv et al. (2019)

Table 2.1 Comparison of studies on MPs removal from WWTPs in different countries

	2. Membrane bioreactor (MBR)					
China	A conventional WWTP with an activated sludge process	0.047 mm	79.9	28.4	64.4%	Liu et al. (2019)
Italy	Pre-treatment Primary treatment Secondary treatment Tertiary treatment (sand filter)	5, 2, and 0.063 mm	2.5±0.3	0.4±0.1	84%	Magni et al. (2019)
Netherlands	7 WWTPs	0.3 to 0.01 mm	68-910	51-81	72%	Leslie et al. (2017)
South Korea	3 WWTPs with tertiary treatments (A) coagulation and ozone (B) coagulation membrane disc-filter (C) coagulation and rapid sand filtration	0.0012 mm	(A) 4,200 (B) 31,400 (C) 5,840	(A) 33 (B) 297 (C) 66	(A) 99.2% (B) 99.1% (C) 98.9%	Hidayaturrahman and Lee (2019)
Turkey	2 WWTPs with primary and secondary treatments	0.055 mm	(A) 26.55±3.17 (B) 23.44±4.10	(A) 6.99±0.76 (B) 4.11±0.32	(A)73% (B)79%	Gündoğdu et al. (2018)
Turkey	3 WWTPs (A) Anaerobic-anoxic-oxic (B) primary and secondary treatments (C) primary and secondary treatments	0.026 mm	(A) 3.1 (B) 2.6 (C) 1.5	(A) 1.6 (B) 0.7 (C) 0.6	(A) 48% (B) 73% (C) 60%	Akarsu et al. (2020)
Spain	A WWTP with an activated sludge process	0.00045	14.23±2.70	1.23±0.15	90.1%	Bayo et al. (2020b)
Spain	A WWTP with an A ² O process	0.375 to 0.025 mm	171±43 °	10.7±5.2	93.7%	Edo et al. (2020)
the number of MPs from primary effluent was used for calculation.						

^b based on plastic mass

^c primary effluent

2.4.5 Retention of MPs in sewage sludge

MPs removed from wastewater are retained in the sludge through both primary and secondary treatment sedimentation. MP concentration in sewage sludge has been reported from 1,000 to 240,300 items/kg (dry weight) (Okoffo et al., 2019). Sewage sludge treatments, such as anaerobic digestion, thermal drying, and lime stabilization, are performed before land application or disposal. A study found a lower MP concentration in the sludge after the anaerobic digestion, whereas lime stabilization increased the number of MPs in the sludge due to the shearing effect (Mahon et al., 2016). Moreover, MPs were detected in bottom ash, a by-product from an incinerator (Yang et al., 2021b).

Sewage sludge is considered one of the important sources of MPs in the terrestrial environment (Bläsing & Amelung, 2018). Studies show evidence of MP spread in agricultural soil after sludge application. Microbeads and fibers, similar to those found in WWTPs, were present in sludge-amended soil (Chen et al., 2020). More than 30,000 tons of MPs enter the agricultural soil of Europe and North America every year (Nizzetto et al., 2016). MPs in soil negatively impact flora and fauna in the soil environment (Kumar et al., 2020). Soil nutrient cycling is also altered by this type of pollutant (Huang et al., 2022). Moreover, MPs tend to accumulate at the roots of some edible plants and transport them to leaves (Li et al., 2021). Chemicals in MPs pose a threat to human health when transferred through the food chain (Kumar et al., 2020).

2.5 Methods for MP analysis

Currently, there is no standardized method for sampling and analysis of MP from wastewater and sludge. Different researchers used a variety of sampling equipment/methods. The procedures for sample preparation also differed. Lastly, various techniques for MP characterization are discussed.

2.5.1 Sampling methods

Various sampling methods have been employed in MP collection from wastewater samples (Table 2.2). The smallest mesh sizes are also varied in different studies. Different containers, such as steel buckets, glass jars, and Ruttner samplers,

were used for grab sampling to collect wastewater samples (Gies et al., 2018; Lares et al., 2018; Magni et al., 2019; Magnusson & Norén, 2014; Murphy et al., 2016). Container collection is suitable for wastewater influents due to high organic and solid loads (Talvitie et al., 2017b). Pumping coupled with filtration has been widely used to obtain a large volume of wastewater effluent (Hu et al., 2019). Several studies utilized a stacked stainless-steel mesh to collect MP samples based on their size distribution (Carr et al., 2016; Dyachenko et al., 2016; Ziajahromi et al., 2017). A stack of different sieve sizes assembled from coarse to fine is used for on-site filtration or in a laboratory to isolate MP particles. A study by Talvitie et al. (2015) developed a filter tube with 200 and 100 µm connected to a centrifugal pump (Talvitie et al., 2015). An automatic sampler has been used in some studies to yield representative samples (Dris et al., 2015; Simon et al., 2018). In addition, surface filtration was adopted for MP sampling by skimming the water surface at the effluent discharge (Carr et al., 2016). The range of mesh sizes used in collecting MPs from wastewater matrices was from 1 to 500 µm (Hamidian et al., 2021). A filter with a 300 µm mesh size has been commonly used for microliter sampling regarding the size of plankton nets (Magnusson & Norén, 2014). Mesh or pore sizes of sieves, filters, and sampling devices influence the number of collected MPs (Magnusson & Norén, 2014). The selection of mesh size for MP sampling should be decided carefully.

Method	Device	Smallest mesh size	References	
	Glass jar	63 µm	Gies et al. (2018)	
		63 µm	Gies et al. (2018)	
Grab sampling	Steel bucket	0.25 mm	Lares et al. (2018)	
Side sumpling		63 µm	Magni et al. (2019)	
	Ruttner sampler	300 um	Magnusson and	
	Rutifier sumptor	500 µm	Norén (2014)	
Filtration	Pumping coupled with	0.125 mm	Mason et al. (2016)	
	filtration	0.120 mm	Widson et al. (2010)	

 Table 2.2 A summary of sampling methods for collecting MPs from wastewater

 treatment plants

	Filter tube connected to a pump	100 µm	Talvitie et al. (2015)
	Stacked units of	25 µm	Ziajahromi et al. (2017)
	stainless-steel mesh	20 µm	Carr et al. (2016)
	screens	0.125 mm	Dyachenko et al. (2016)
Automatic	Teledyne ISCO Glacier Portable Water Sampler	63 µm	Gies et al. (2018)
sampler	ISCO 3700	20 µm	Talvitie et al. (2017b)
Surface filtration	Skimming surface water at effluent discharge by a filtering assembly	125 μm	Carr et al. (2016)

MPs are present in sewage sludge because they are transferred from wastewater to the solid phase. Thus, the collection of sludge samples is conducted to investigate MP retention. Filtration of sewage sludge cannot be conducted directly due to its viscous matrix containing organic and inorganic materials and microorganisms (Zhang & Chen, 2020). Thus, sludge samples are commonly collected in small amounts from glass jars or beakers from sludge treatment units (Koyuncuoğlu & Erden, 2021).

2.5.2 Sample preparation

Wastewater samples are organic-rich matrices that contain MPs. Pre-treatment is required to isolate MPs from wastewater samples. The following steps prepare MP samples prior to spectroscopic analysis.

2.5.2.1 Purification

MP particles in the environment are attached to natural organic and inorganic materials. Removing these particles before spectroscopic analysis (Löder & Gerdts, 2015a). Using a strong oxidizing agent to remove biological material can degrade or damage plastic samples (Lusher et al., 2017). The purification processes of MP samples can be divided into chemical degradation and enzymatic degradation (Li et al., 2018a). The most widely used technique for MP purification is wet peroxide oxidation (WPO) by hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) (Li et al., 2018a; Magni et al., 2019; Tagg et al., 2015; Ziajahromi et al., 2017). However, exposure to H_2O_2 may not suffice for removing organic residue in large volumes of wastewater (Tagg et al., 2017). The combination with an iron catalyst, the so-called Fenton's reaction, was effectively used to extract MPs from organic-rich wastewater and sludge without altering MP shapes and chemistry (Hurley et al., 2018; Tagg et al., 2017). Fenton's reagent also showed a higher MP recovery rate than other alkaline-based digestion, such as NaOH and KOH (Hurley et al., 2018).

An alternative for purifying MP samples is enzymatic digestion. Specific enzymes, including protease, cellulase, and chitinase, are used to eliminate lipids, protein, and carbohydrates in the environmental samples (Löder et al., 2017). It showed a high recovery rate without damaging plastic material.

2.5.2.2 Density separation

Density separation is an approach aiming to separate MP from non-plastic materials. It is the most widely used method to separate MPs from inorganic substances, such as sediment and sand (Li et al., 2018a). The initial separation can be done by adding a saturated salt solution. Densities of most commercial plastics are approximately 0.8-1.4 g/cm³, and salt solution is slightly denser than plastic which makes them float due to supernatant, while high-density particles are likely to sink to the bottom (Li et al., 2018a; Ribeiro Claro et al., 2016). MPs can be separated by collecting supernatant particles.

Sodium Chloride (NaCl: 1.2 kg/L) is the suggested salt solution by Thompson et al. (2004) for density separation of MPs, and it is the most commonly used brine solution among all due to low-cost, availability, and environmental-friendliness

(Hamidian et al., 2021). However, the NaCl solution performed better in extracting lowdensity MPs than high-density particles (Claessens et al., 2013). Zinc Bromide (ZnBr₂: 1.7 kg/L) showed the highest MP recovery rate in the segregation of denser MPs among tested brine solutions (Quinn et al., 2017). However, ZnBr₂ is costly and hazardous to the environment (Quinn et al., 2017). Sodium Iodide (NaI: 1.6-1.8 kg/L) exhibited a similar recovery rate to ZnBr₂, but it is cheaper and more environmentally friendly (Quinn et al., 2017). Moreover, NaI solution is recyclable without any changes in density by filtration (Kedzierski et al., 2017). The use of NaI can significantly reduce the cost of MP isolation. Zinc chloride (ZnCl₂: 1.5-1.8 kg/L) is also suggested for density separation due to the recyclability by pressure filtration (Löder & Gerdts, 2015b). ZnCl₂ is an alternative brine solution for environmental and economic reasons.

Density separation is generally performed after purification for wastewater samples, whereas density-based separation is completed before the step of purification for sludge samples. A summary of sample preparation methods for wastewater and sludge samples is shown in Table 2.3.

 Table 2.3 Purification and separation methods for MP samples from wastewater and sludge

Sample type	Purification	Density separation	References
Wastewater and sludge	30% H ₂ O ₂	Canola oil	Gies et al. (2018)
Sludge	30% H ₂ O ₂	NaCl	Li et al. (2018b)
Wastewater and sludge	15% H ₂ O ₂	NaCl	Magni et al. (2019)
Wastewater	30% H ₂ O ₂	-	Tagg et al. (2015)
Wastewater	30% H ₂ O ₂	NaI	Ziajahromi et al. (2017)
Wastewater	30% H ₂ O ₂ with 0.05 M FeSO ₄	-	Dyachenko et al. (2016)

Westewater	30% H ₂ O ₂ with	NoI	Gündoğdu et al.
wastewater	0.05 M FeSO ₄	INdi	(2018)
Westewater and	30% H ₂ O ₂ with		
wastewater and	0.05 M FeSO ₄ and	-	Lares et al. (2018)
sludge	cellulase enzyme		
Westewater	30% H ₂ O ₂ with	ZnCl	Lee and Kim
wastewater	0.05 M FeSO ₄		(2018)

2.5.2.3 Nile Red staining

Large-sized MPs are visually sorted under an optical microscope, but it requires expert knowledge and is time-consuming (Maes et al., 2017). The staining approach allows a quick and inexpensive quantification of MPs in various environmental matrices (Tamminga et al., 2017). MP staining has been proposed as a complementary method for enumeration to avoid the risk of over- or underestimation (Kershaw et al., 2019). Nile Red is a lipophilic dye that was first used in microbiology (Tamminga et al., 2017). Due to the hydrophobic properties of plastics, they are fluorescent when they are excited with certain wavelengths (Nalbone et al., 2021). Chloroform has been tested as the most suitable solvent for Nile Red as it achieved the highest recovery rate of Europe's most demanded polymer types (Tamminga et al., 2017). Stained filter papers are identified under a fluorescence microscope to enumerate MP abundances at each sampling location.

2.5.3 MP characterization

After sampling and pre-treatment prior to spectroscopic analysis, MPs will be characterized and identified based on morphology, such as size, shape, color, chemical composition, and concentration (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2017). Various methods can be used for identification.

2.5.3.1 Visual Identification

Visual identification or visual sorting can be made by the naked eye or under optical microscopy in order to sort out MPs from non-plastic materials (Hidalgo-Ruz et al., 2012). It can be used to characterize the shape of MPs and classify them into primary

or secondary MPs, which infer the origin of that particle (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2017). Optical microscopy can also be used to measure the length of MP samples if they are not spherical (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2017). In addition, Norén (2007) suggested criteria for visual sorting as follows: no structure of organic origin, homogenous thickness for fibers, and clear or homogenous color (Norén, 2007). However, this method may lead to misidentification in a smaller size (< 500 μ m) MPs if being used solely (Löder & Gerdts, 2015a). Moreover, identification accuracy highly depends on the skills of the sorting person to discriminate MPs from other substances and the quality and magnification of microscopy (Lusher et al., 2017; Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2017). Plastic samples should be pre-treated with enzymes or oxidizing agents to avoid misidentification of similar size and shape natural debris (Li et al., 2018a). Therefore, another complementary method, such as spectroscopic analysis, must be

applied together to verify the visual identification and provide more accuracy.

2.5.3.2 Raman spectroscopy

Raman spectroscopy is a high-reliability method that can be used to identify the chemical composition of MP samples from various media backgrounds with the ability to assess very small size particles (< 20 μ m) (Araujo et al., 2018). It indicates the sample's chemical structure, such as the type of atom, bonding, and intermolecular interaction from the interaction of laser light with the molecules (Ribeiro Claro et al., 2016). Results of Raman spectroscopy are from the differences in the frequency of backscattered light and the background laser frequency (Löder & Gerdts, 2015a). This analysis can be used as a complementary method with visual inspection to increase the success rate in MP identification. The advantages of using Raman spectroscopy are minimal sample preparation, high selectivity, and reproducibility (Löder & Gerdts, 2015a). In addition, compared with IR spectroscopy, Raman spectroscopy covers a wider spectral range and provides better resolution while having less interference from moisture (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2015). However, the limitations of Raman spectroscopy are the long measurement time and spectral distortion from sample impurities (Araujo et al., 2018).

Due to the limited sample size of the conventional Raman spectroscopic method, some studies adopted Raman micro-spectroscopy to identify smaller particles down to 1 μ m including MP in drinking water which is usually overlooked (Ivleva et al., 2017; Schymanski et al., 2018). Moreover, Raman spectroscopic analysis is time-consuming and not automated. Therefore, the novel Raman spectroscopy has been developed to reduce measurement. Frère et al. (2016) proposed semi-automated Raman spectroscopy for large-scale identification, resulting in a 75% identification rate (Frère et al., 2016). Moreover, the study by Araújo et al. (2018) came up with automated Raman spectroscopy with real-time detection using stimulated Raman scattering coupled with flow cytometry (Araujo et al., 2018). The operation time is reduced, and fluorescence interference from plastic is overcome (Araujo et al., 2018).

2.5.3.3 Fourier-transform Infrared (FT-IR) spectroscopy

Fourier-transform Infrared (FT-IR) spectroscopy is another widely used identification technique with high accuracy. FT-IR and Raman spectroscopy are complementary techniques for visual identification to confirm the types of polymers (Löder & Gerdts, 2015a). It is suitable for visible MPs having a size over 100 μ m (Ribeiro Claro et al., 2016). FT-IR differs from Raman spectroscopy in that infrared radiation (IR) is used rather than laser light (Ribeiro Claro et al., 2016). Some molecular vibration, which is inactive in Raman analysis, can be detected by IR (Ribeiro Claro et al., 2016). The results of IR spectra can be used to compare with reference IR spectra to identify types of polymers (Ivleva et al., 2017). It also shows the sample's degree of oxidation when weathering is exposed (Ribeiro Claro et al., 2016).

There are three operating modes in FT-IR; transmission, reflection, and attenuated total reflectance (ATR) (Ivleva et al., 2017). ATR mode is usually used to analyze MP particles larger than 500 μ m, which can be handled by tweezers (Ivleva et al., 2017). While FT-IR combined with optical microscopy, so-called micro-FTIR, is used in the analysis of smaller-size samples (Ivleva et al., 2017). Recently, the use of micro-FT-IR is increased due to the ability to simultaneous visualization, mapping of samples, and collection of spectra while being able to analyze irregular-shaped MPs

(Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2015). This technique is being developed because it is still time-consuming, requires a trained operator, and is high cost.

FT-IR was used to verify visual sorting in the study of Leslie et al. (2017). In comparison, the study of Zhang et al. (2017) applied the FT-IR technique to confirm the type of polymers of MP samples collected from three Gorges Reservoirs (Zhang et al., 2017). It was found that most of the MP particles are PE, PP, and PS (Zhang et al., 2017). In addition, the technique of FT-IR has proved to be a promising method for identifying the type of polymers in many studies (Dyachenko et al., 2016; Mani et al., 2015; Mintenig et al., 2017; Murphy et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017).

2.5.3.4 Pyrolysis-gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (Pyr-GC/MS)

Pyrolysis-gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry or Pyr-GC/MS is another frequently used technique to identify polymer types and other chemicals associated with MPs. Samples are heated up to 500-1400 °C into individual fragmented substances, which are later separated by a fused silica capillary column and interpreted by mass spectrometry (Kusch et al., 2016). Since the pyrolysis method directly assesses the solid polymer and copolymer, pre-treatment is unnecessary (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2015). This technique analyzes the thermal degradation product of MPs in one run without any solvent required (Li et al., 2018a). Thus, it prevents background contamination. However, the method is destructive, so the sample cannot be analyzed which other techniques to compare the results (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2015). Moreover, it is time-consuming because it requires a manual placement on the instrument, and only one particle can be analyzed at once (Lusher et al., 2017).

Pyr-GC/MS was applied to identify polymer type and organic plastic additives in sediment samples (Fries et al., 2013). However, this technique has some limitations: mass and size limitations. It can identify only low-mass samples lower than 350 μ g and diameter less than 1.5 mm, which is the size of a thermal desorption tube (Fries et al., 2013). Therefore, sample preparation is obligatory.

2.5.3.5 Scanning electron microscopy (SEM)

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM), scanning electron microscopy-energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (SEM-EDS), and environmental scanning microscopy-

energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (ESEM-EDS) can produce the image of surface morphology from MP samples (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2015). It employs the interaction of electron beam and diffraction/reflection of emitted radiation from MP surfaces (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2015). Only SEM requires the coating of samples because of the high vacuum (Li et al., 2018a). This method is also destructive, and the analysis has charge effects. On the contrary, SEM-EDS and ESEM-EDS can determine the elemental composition of MPs which can be inorganic additives in MP samples (Rocha-Santos & Duarte, 2015). These two techniques do not require sample preparation or coating because the testing condition is the low vacuum.

The study by Erikson et al. (2013) employed SEM analysis to verify the results from visual identification. It was found that 20% of particles less than 1 mm initially identified as MP were aluminum silicate from fly ash (Eriksen et al., 2013). Thus, SEM is an alternative method to confirm whether particles are MPs or not and to provide a high-resolution image of the morphological surface of the samples.

Various methods can analyze MP samples to obtain the quantity and chemical composition. The advantages and limitations of identification methods for MPs are presented in Table 2.4.

Identification methods	Advantages	Limitations
Microscopy	Simple, fast, and easy	• depends on the skills
		of the sorting person
		• high possibility of
		misidentification
		• high possibility of
		underestimation of
		smaller particles
		• No data on the
		chemical composition
Raman spectroscopy	• Non-destructive	• Time-consuming

Table 2.4 Advantages and limitations of identification methods for MPs

• Minimal sample preparation,	• Spectral distortion
high selectivity, and	from sample impurities
reproducibility	• High cost
• More comprehensive	
spectral range and better	
resolution than FTIR	
• Suitable for smaller-sized	
MPs (down to 1 μ m)	
• Non-destructive	• Time-consuming
• Able to detect molecular	• Requires trained
vibration that is inactive in	operator
Raman	• High cost
• Suitable for samples >100	22
μm	
• Simultaneous analysis of	• Destructive method
polymer types and chemical	• Mass and size limited
additives	• Time-consuming
• It does not require pre-	S/A/
treatment or any solution	7.51/
• Provide high-resolution	Requires sample
images of MP morphologies	coating
	• Destructive method
	 Nummar sample preparation, high selectivity, and reproducibility More comprehensive spectral range and better resolution than FTIR Suitable for smaller-sized MPs (down to 1 μm) Non-destructive Able to detect molecular vibration that is inactive in Raman Suitable for samples >100 μm Simultaneous analysis of polymer types and chemical additives It does not require pretreatment or any solution images of MP morphologies

CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY

3.1 Study sites

There were four WWTPs selected for this study. Three of the WWTPs are in Bangkok, Thailand, with different treatment technologies, and another WWTP is in a suburban area with less population equivalent. The summary of each WWTP is shown in Table 1. Din Daeng WWTP is the biggest WWTP in Bangkok with the highest treatment capacity and the largest population served. Nong Khaem WWTP was selected because of its different configurations of the activated sludge process. Nong Khaem WWTP is in the sub-urban area of Bangkok, surrounded by the textile industry.

On the other hand, Bang Sue WWTP is currently the only WWTP with advanced technology on a pilot scale. The treatment system of Bang Sue WWTP is constructed underground unlike other WWTPs. Lastly, Sing Buri WWTP employs waste stabilization ponds to treat domestic wastewater in Sing Buri province, 150 km from Bangkok. The area is less populated than Bangkok, and the lifestyles of citizens are also different.

WWTP	Population equivalent	Treatment technology	Treatment capacity (m ³ /day)	Service area (km²)
Nong	520,000	Vertical loop	157,000	44
Khaem		reactor		
WWTP				
Din	1,080,000	Biological	350,000	37
Daeng		activated		
WWTP		sludge		

Table 3.1 Summary of four WWTPs in the study with population equivalent, treatment technologies, and treatment capacity per day

Bang Sue WWTP	227,660	Biological- activated sludge coupled with ultrafiltration (UF)	120,000 (dry season) 300,000 (rainy season)	20.7
Sing Buri WWTP	17,000	Waste stabilization pond	4,500	4

3.1.1 Nong Khaem WWTP

Nong Khaem Wastewater Treatment Plant is located in Nong Khaem district, Bangkok, Thailand. The plant serves an area of 44 square kilometers in Nong Khaem, Pasi Charoen, and Bang Kae districts with 520,000 population. The total length of the pipe from Nong Khaem WWTP is 46 kilometers, connected to 8 pumping stations. Vertical Loop Reactor (VLR) is the treatment technology used in this plant. The biological processes of this WWTP include anoxic and aerobic tanks. Ferric Chloride is a flocculation agent added during the clarification process. The treatment capacity of Nong Khaem WWTP is 157,000 m³/day. Moreover, this location includes a sludge treatment plant that receives sewage sludge from WWTP all over Bangkok. Sewage sludge is treated by anaerobic digestion before being used as a soil amendment. The capacity of sludge treatment is 500 m³/day. The flow diagram and sampling location for MPs were shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.1 Flow diagram of Nong Khaem WWTP with sampling locations

S1 = influent, S2 = after grit trap, S3 = final effluent, and SS = sewage sludge

3.1.2 Din Daeng WWTP

Din Daeng wastewater treatment plant is the biggest WWTP in Thailand which serve more than 1 million population in Din Daeng, Pathum Wan, and partly Phaya Thai, Dusit, Ratchathewi, Pom Prap Sattru Phai, Samphanthawong, and Phra Nakorn district of Bangkok which covers the area of 37 square kilometers. The plant is operated under the Water Quality Management Office, Department of Drainage and Sewerage. It is in an area of 27,200 square meters. This WWTP uses a combined sewer system connected to 0.15-3.2 m diameter pipe and extended to 63 kilometers in distance. The treatment technology employed in this WWTP is a biological activated sludge process with nutrient removal with a capacity of 350,000 cubic meters per day. Moreover, the final effluent of Din Daeng WWTP is released to Sam Sen and Makkasan canal. It is also responsible for improving water quality in Ong Ang, Bang Lam Pu, Maha Nark, Saen Saeb, Prem Prachakorn, Samsen, and Padung Krung Kasem canals.

Din Daeng wastewater treatment plant comprises seven treatment units; coarse screens, inlet pumping station, rake screens, aerated grit channels, activated sludge tanks, clarifier tank, and belt filter press. Sampling locations are shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.2 Flow diagram of Din Daeng WWTP with sampling locations

S1 = influent, S2 = after grit channels, S3 = final effluent, and SS = sewage sludge

3.1.3 Bang Sue WWTP

Bang Sue WWTP is the underground WWTP of Bangkok Bang Sue Environmental Education and Conservation Center (Bang Sue EECC). The WWTP serves an area of 20.7 km² in 4 districts of Bangkok. It serves a population of 227,660. The collection system pipeline is 49.4 km in length. The wastewater collection system is a combined sewer system. The treatment capacity of this WWTP is 120,000 m³/d and 300,000 m³/d in dry and rainy seasons, respectively. The treatment plant is a closed underground system to prevent air and noise pollution. This wastewater treatment plant includes primary, secondary, and tertiary treatment. This WWTP employs anoxicaerobic tanks in secondary treatment, and treatment technology in tertiary treatment is ultrafiltration (polyether sulfone (PES)/polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) blend membrane) with a pore size of 0.1 microns. There are two sets of ultrafiltration in the WWTP. Each set can treat up to 1,000 m³ of wastewater daily. Treated water by ultrafiltration in Bang Sue EECC for cleaning and decorative purposes and the effluent from the final clarifier is discharged into Prem Prachakorn canal. Samples were collected at treatment units shown in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3 Flow diagram of Bang Sue WWTP with sampling locations

S1 = influent, S2 = after grit chamber, S3 = after aeration tanks, S4 = effluent after secondary treatment, S5 = effluent after ultrafiltration (UF), and SS = sewage sludge

3.1.4 Sing Buri WWTP

Sing Buri WWTP serves a population of approximately 17,000. WWTP mainly receive domestic wastewater from restaurants, hotels, housing estate, and hospitals. The treatment technology employed is a waste stabilization pond which consists of an anaerobic pond, a facultative pond, and a maturation pond. The storage capacity of anaerobic, facultative, and maturation ponds are 56,000, 16,000, and 17,900 m³, respectively. The treatment capacity of this WWTP is 4,500 m³/day to support the population growth of this area. However, the average flow of wastewater is only 1,500 m³/day. Treated wastewater is either discharged to the Lop Buri River or recycled as irrigation water. When there is a high demand for water in the growing season, treated wastewater will be sent directly from the outlet of the facultative pond to agricultural fields without passing through the maturation pond. MP samples were collected from the effluent of each pond as shown in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4 Flow diagram of Sing Buri WWTP with sampling locations S1 = influent, S2 = effluent from anaerobic pond, S3= effluent from

facultative pond, and S4 = final effluent

3.2 Sampling methods

In-situ filtration was conducted in Nong Khaem and Din Daeng WWTP. The volume of wastewater filtered through a set of Tyler sieves was 20 L for both WWTPs (n=3). Stacked sieves comprised 5 mm, 1 mm, 500 μ m, and 53 μ m stainless steel sieves. Samples were collected mainly from the influent, after grit removal, and the final effluent of Nong Khaem and Din Daeng WWTP. Samples retained on each sieve size were rinsed with deionized (DI) water and kept separately in glass bottles. Plastic pieces on 5-mm-sieve were separated and excluded from the total count since they were classified as macro-plastic. Sludge samples were collected from excess sludge from final clarifiers. They were taken from randomized points and homogenized in a glass bottle (~0.5 kg).

Bang Sue WWTP is a closed underground treatment system. Hence, 1L grab samples were collected in triplicates. Stainless steel bucket was used to collect samples primarily from the influent after the coarse screen, after the grit chamber, after aeration tanks, the effluent from secondary treatment, and the effluent from an ultrafiltration unit. Sludge samples were taken from excess sludge after the final clarification to find MP retention in the sludge.

A paired sampling method was used in sample collection from Sing Buri WWTP to find the influence of different sampling methods on the number of MPs. A set of sieves was used to filter 20 L of wastewater from this WWTP's influent and effluent. Grab samples of 1 L wastewater were also collected. Sludge was collected from the bottom of the facultative pond by grab sampling to find the settlement of MPs in a pond system. Due to a long retention time of a pond-based wastewater treatment system, the approach of atmospheric deposition was conducted using a passive sampler. A stainless-steel funnel with a diameter of 12 cm connected with a glass bottle was placed near the ponds and left for 10 hours to find the rate of MP dry deposition in this area. The deposition rate was expressed in the unit of MP/m²/day.

3.3 Sample processing

Before quantifying and characterizing MPs, samples require pre-treatment and extraction from other inorganic materials. A summary of procedures for sample processing is illustrated in Figure 3.5.

3.3.1 Wet peroxide oxidation

Samples are kept in the oven at 60°C until dry. Wet peroxide oxidation adopted by Masura et al. was employed for removing organic residue contaminated in MP samples (Masura et al., 2015). The use of H_2O_2 alone may not be sufficient for treating organic-rich wastewater. Thus, Fenton's reagent was effectively used to analyze the large volume of wastewater while enabling MPs for more accurate spectroscopic analysis (Tagg et al., 2017). Fenton's reagent was prepared by mixing 20 mL of 30% hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) with 20 mL of iron catalyst (FeSO₄.7H₂O). The solution was added to the samples and heated up to 60°C to speed up the reaction while preventing mass losses of MPs following Munno et al. (2018). An additional 20 mL of H₂O₂ was added to the samples until there was no visible organic matter (Dyachenko et al., 2016). Samples were left to cool down for 24 hours and filtered through a set of sieves. The residue from Fenton's reagent was washed away with DI water. Subsequently, samples were transferred to beakers and dried at 60°C.

3.3.2 Density separation

Density-based separation was employed to separate MPs from inorganic materials such as sediment and sand. NaI solution (~ 1.5 g/cm^3) was used in this study due to its high recovery rate, cost-effectiveness, and recyclability (Kedzierski et al., 2017; Quinn et al., 2017). NaI solution was mixed with dried samples, stirred continuously for 15 minutes, and left to settle for at least 24 hours. Floating particles were isolated and transferred to a set of sieves to wash away salt residue and categorized into size fractions: 1-5 mm, 0.5-1 mm, and 0.5-0.05 mm. Samples in each size fraction were vacuum filtered on a cellulose nitrate membrane filter with a pore size of 0.45 µm.

3.3.3 Nile Red staining

To avoid underestimation and overestimation of smaller-sized MPs, a staining technique was performed to discriminate synthetic polymers from other inorganic particles (Shim et al., 2016). Filter papers with a size fraction of 0.05-0.5 mm were stained with Nile Red in chloroform (1 mg/mL). Filter papers were placed on a petri dish, covered with aluminum foil, and left in the fume hood for 24 hours. Stained filter papers were later inspected under a fluorescence microscope.

3.3.4 Sludge samples

Sludge samples were collected from the excess sludge, which was wet sludge. Samples were dried at 105°C until they had a constant weight. The total solid content of sewage sludge was calculated from the weight before and after drying. Sewage sludge samples were processed similarly with liquid fraction. However, density separation preceded wet peroxide oxidation to eliminate a large volume of sediment in the sludge. Saturated NaI solution was added to dried sludge samples in the beakers and stirred for 15 min. The top water layer with floating particles was extracted and washed with DI water on a sieve. Samples were dried at 60°C before pre-treatment. Fenton's reagent was added to sludge samples and heated up to 60°C to accelerate the reaction. Samples were left to cool down for 24 hours. Wet sieving was performed to wash away the chemical residue and categorize sludge samples as per the size of the sieves they retained.

3.4 MP quantification and characterization

MPs were enumerated by visual sorting under a microscope and identified using the spectroscopic method. Figure 3.6 depicts the quantification and characterization approach for different size ranges.



Figure 3.6 Quantification and characterization approach for different sample sizes

3.4.1 Visual identification

Filter papers containing samples with size fractions of 1-5 mm and 0.5-1 mm were inspected under a light microscope (Olympus CX41) with ×4 and ×10 magnification. The number of MPs on each filter paper was counted and grouped into shapes and colors. Shape categories for MPs were fiber, fragment, film, and bead. Organic material, such as plant parts and insect parts, was ignored from the total count during the inspection. The Nile Red staining method was employed for subsequent fluorescent tagging for 0.05-0.5 mm MPs to quantify the number of MPs in this size range. Stained particles with Nile Red were observed through a fluorescence microscope (Delta Vision[™] Elite cell Imaging System) under DAPI (4', 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole) filter (blue fluorescence, excitation: 390/18 nm, emission: 435/48 nm) with ×4 magnification. Images of the whole filters were captured from the camera

connected to the Delta Vision microscope, and the number of MPs was assessed by counting visible fluorescent spots.

3.4.2 Polymer type identification

The polymer types of MPs were obtained by spectroscopic method. MP sample sizes, 1-5 mm and 0.5-1 mm, were picked individually by tweezers and analyzed by FT-IR (Nicolet iS50, Thermo Scientific) in the ATR mode with a diamond microtip. The resolution of the analysis was 4 cm⁻¹ with 32 scans. Filter papers containing particles smaller than 0.5 mm were analyzed using FT-IR connected with a microscope (micro-FTIR: Nicolet iN10, Thermo Scientific) with a resolution of 8 cm⁻¹ and 64 scans. Ten spots on each filter paper were randomly selected to identify by micro-FTIR. The obtained spectra were compared with an OMNIC software reference library. The match factor of ≥ 0.70 was used to confirm the polymer types of MPs.

3.5 MP abundance and removal efficiency in WWTPs

The average number of MPs at each sampling location in the liquid fraction was expressed in the unit of MP particles per L of wastewater. The abundance of MPs in sewage sludge was expressed in MP particles per kg of dried sludge. The removal efficiency of each WWTP was calculated following equation 3.1.

% removal efficiency =
$$\frac{\text{influent (MPs/L)-effluent (MPs/L)}}{\text{influent (MPs/L)}} \times 100\%$$
(3.1)

To obtain MP loads discharged daily to water bodies, the treatment capacity of each WWTP is considered and calculated following equation 2.

$$MPs/day = Final effluent (MPs/L) \times Treatment capacity (L/day)$$
(3.2)

3.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed in Minitab 20 software and Microsoft excel (Home & Student). Significant differences between two sampling points and size fractions were determined from a two-sample t-test. When the p-value is less than 0.05, it is considered significantly different, with T _{stat} > T _{critical}.

3.7 Contamination mitigation

To prevent MP contamination, mitigation protocol was strictly followed at every step. A cotton lab coat was worn all the time during the experiment. All glassware was rinsed with DI water before use, and the lab bench was wiped with 70% ethanol. To avoid plastic contamination, every container used in the sampling and analysis, including sampling devices, was not plastic. Glassware and metal equipment were used in the analysis. Most of the experimental procedures were performed under a fume hood. Beakers and Petri dishes were covered with aluminum foil to prevent airborne contamination. Blank samples (DI water) were analyzed parallel to the actual samples. Filter papers of blank samples were observed under a microscope, and the number of MPs was quantified and considered background contamination. MPs from blank samples were deducted from the total count in actual samples.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This chapter presents the results of MP abundances and characteristics in 4 WWTPs in Thailand. The MP removal rate for each treatment unit and the overall removal efficiency of each WWTP has been reported. The comparison of 4 WWTPs and the effective unit for MP removal have also been discussed in this chapter.

4.1 MP abundance and removal in the WWTPs

The number of MPs at each sampling location, the removal by each treatment unit, the overall removal efficiency of WWTPs, and the MP characterization of all studied WWTPs will be demonstrated in this section.

4.1.1 Nong Khaem WWTP

4.1.1.1 MP abundance

MP samples were categorized into three size fractions based on their retained sieve size: 1–5 mm, 0.5–1 mm, and 0.05–0.5 mm. Plastic pieces larger than 5 mm were not found in this WWTP. The group of 0.05-0.5 mm MPs was the dominant group found in this WWTP, accounting for more than 70% at every sampling point and about 69.40% in sewage sludge (SS) (Figure 4.1). Figure 4.2 shows the abundance of MPs per liter of wastewater. The abundance of MPs was in ascending order with smaller size ranges. The average number of MPs contaminated in the influent of Nong Khaem WWTP was 26.6 MPs/L. A total of 14.75 MPs/L was discharged with the final effluent.



Figure 4.1 Percentage distribution of the different size classes of MPs from various locations in Nong Khaem WWTP

S1 = influent, S2 = after the grit trap, S3 = final effluent, and SS = sewage sludge



Figure 4.2 Number of MPs per liter of wastewater from treatment steps of Nong Khaem WWTP

S1 = influent, S2 = after the grit trap, S3 = final effluent

4.1.1.2 MP removability

In this WWTP, larger size groups of MPs were more efficiently removed than the size 0.05-0.5 mm (Table 4.1). Screening and grit removal contributed to a higher removal rate of MPs in all size ranges. Secondary treatment achieved a higher removal efficiency (40%) in 1-5 mm MPs than in the other two groups (Table 4.1). Only 14.24% of the total number of MPs were removed during secondary treatment. The overall MP removal efficiency of Nong Khaem WWTP was 44.55%. When this WWTP's treatment capacity is considered, MP loads discharged daily are equal to 2.32 billion MPs/day (Table 4.2).

Table 4.1 Removal efficiencies of different size fractions at each treatment unit based

 on the average number in Nong Khaem WWTP

/ (2 A)	Removal efficiency (%)				
Size fraction	Screening and grit removal	Secondary treatment	Overall		
1-5 mm	42.86	40.00	65.71		
0.5-1 mm	61.17	10.00	65.05		
0.05-0.5 mm	27.92	13.03	37.31		
Total	35.24	14.24	44.55		

Table 4.2 Number of MPs released per day based on the treatment capacity from each sampling location in Nong Khaem WWTP

Sampling site	MPs/L	million MPs/day
S1	26.6 (±9.45)	4176 (±1483)
S2	17.2 (±5.59)	2700 (±878)
S3	14.75 (±4.58)	2316 (±720)

4.1.1.3 MP morphologies and characterization

In the influent (S1), fibers accounted for 87% of the total MPs, and the proportion of fibers was reduced to about 65% in the effluent (S3) (Figure 4.3). Some of the fibers were removed by secondary treatment because a large proportion of fibers (77.09%) was detected in sewage sludge (Figure 4.3). However, the proportion of fragments tends to increase during treatment processes. It might be a result of MP breakdowns during the operation.

Only FT-IR analyzed MPs from this study site. Suspected particles were picked individually with tweezers to identify their polymer types. The result spectra were matched with reference spectra from polymer libraries in OMNIC software. Polyester fibers contributed to the most significant proportion of MPs (49%), followed by polypropylene (PP) (20%) and polyethylene (PE) (13%) (Figure 4.4). Even though polyester fibers were the most abundant type obtained from FT-IR, some of the fibers failed to be identified due to the small contact area of fiber with the microtip of FT-IR. Thus, micro-FTIR was employed to identify smaller-sized MPs in the following study sites for more precise results.



Figure 4.3 Percentage distribution of shape categories in every treatment step of Nong Khaem WWTP



Figure 4.4 Polymer-type distribution of MPs from all sampling locations of Nong Khaem WWTP identified by FT-IR

4.1.1.4 MP retention

MP abundances in sewage sludge were quantified and expressed in the unit of MP particles/kg of sludge (dry weight). The total number of MPs retained in the sludge from Nong Khaem WWTP was 81167±284 per kg of dried sludge (Figure 4.5). The 0.05-0.5 mm size range contributed to the most significant proportion of MPs retained in the sludge (Figure 4.5). It corresponds to wastewater samples' most significant proportion of 0.05-0.5 mm MPs. Sludge from this WWTP plant was subsequently sent to a sludge treatment facility for anaerobic digestion. Sewage sludge was air-dried and applied for soil amendment. The number of MPs contaminated in sewage sludge indicates the potential risk of MP contamination in agricultural soil.



Figure 4.5 MP abundance based on size classes in sewage sludge samples from Nong Khaem WWTP

4.1.2 Din Daeng WWTP

4.1.2.1 MP abundance

No plastic particles bigger than 5 mm were found in the collected samples. The most abundant group of MPs in wastewater samples (S1, S2, and S3) and sludge samples (SS) was the size fraction of 0.05–0.5 mm (Figure 4.6). There was no significant difference between S1, S2, and S3 (p > 0.05). In sludge samples (SS), 0.05-0.5 mm MPs were found in the largest proportion (43.19%), but it was not significantly higher than the size of 0.5-1 mm MPs (31.47%) (p > 0.05).





S1 = influent, S2 = after the grit trap, S3 = final effluent, and SS = sewage sludge.

Figure 4.7 indicates the number of MPs per L of wastewater in different sampling locations based on different size classes. The average of MPs coming into the wastewater system of Din Daeng WWTP was 16.55±9.92 MPs/L, and the number of MPs discharged to the environment was 3.52±1.43 MPs/L. The largest proportion of MPs contaminated in the inlet of WWTP was the group of 0.05-0.5 mm MPs (10.2 MPs/L) followed by 0.5-1 mm (4.33 MPs/L) and 1-5 mm (2.02 MPs/L). The size fraction of 0.05-0.5 mm also contributed to the largest proportion in the final effluent (2.23 MPs/L) followed by 0.5-1 mm (0.75 MPs/L) and 1-5 mm (0.53 MPs/L).



Figure 4.7 Number of MP particles per liter of wastewater from treatment steps of Din Daeng WWTP

S1 = influent, S2 = after the grit trap, and <math>S3 = final effluent

4.1.2.2 MP removability

Table 4.3 shows each treatment unit's removal efficiencies of different size classes. The overall removal efficiencies of 1-5 mm, 0.5-1 mm, and 0.05-0.5 mm were 73.76%, 82.68%, and 78.14%, respectively. It resulted in a 78.73% overall MP removal efficiency of Din Daeng WWTP. After secondary treatment, MPs were removed 47.13% by grit trap and 59.77%. Secondary treatment contributed to higher percentage removal in all size fractions than screening and grit trap. The removal of 1-5 mm after screening showed the least contribution among other size classes. Concerning the treatment capacity of this WWTP (350,000 m³/day), a considerable amount of 1.23 billion MPs is discharged to the environment every day (Table 4.4).
	Removal efficiency (%)				
Size fraction	Screening and grit Secondary		Overall		
	removal	treatment			
1-5 mm	35.64	59.23	73.76		
0.5-1 mm	50.35	65.12	82.68		
0.05-0.5 mm	48.04	57.92	78.14		
Total	47.13	59.77	78.73		

Table 4.3 Removal efficiencies of different size fractions at each treatment unit based

 on the average number of MPs in Din Daeng WWTP.

Table 4.4 Number of MPs released per day based on the treatment capacity from each sampling location in Din Daeng WWTP

Sampling site	site MPs/L million MPs/day	
S1	16.55(±9.92)	5793(±3472)
S2	8.75(±4.92)	3063(±1724)
S3	3.52(±1.43)	1231(±500)

4.1.2.3 MP morphologies and characterization

The results from visual sorting and identification found that the highest proportion of fiber was found in the liquid fraction. At the same time, fragments were the predominant group in the sewage sludge sample (Figure 4.8). However, the number of fibers and fragments in the influent (S1) was not significantly different. Only 1 microbead was found in the influent, and 2 microbeads were found after the grit removal. Therefore, the number of microbeads was mostly negligible.



Figure 4.8 Percentage distribution of shape categories in every treatment step of Din Daeng WWTP

S1 = influent, S2 = after the grit trap, and <math>S3 = final effluent

Fingerprint spectra from FT-IR and micro-FTIR were compared to reference libraries. The success rate of FTIR analysis of suspected particles was 46.05% in this WWTP. The results show that the most abundant group of polymers is polyethylene (PE), followed by polyethylene terephthalate (PET) and acrylate polymers (Figure 4.9). PE was observed in the form of transparent fragments and films because PE is used in a variety of packaging and containers. They were secondary MPs derived from the fragmentation and abrasion of plastic products.



Figure 4.9 Polymer-type distribution of MPs from all sampling locations of Din Daeng WWTP identified by FT-IR and micro-FTIR

4.1.2.4 MP retention

Figure 4.10 shows the abundance of MPs in sewage sludge from Din Daeng WWTP. The size fraction of 0.05-0.5 mm was the most abundant group (20,450 MPs/kg) followed by 0.5-1 mm (14,910 MPs/kg) and 1-5 mm (12,000 MPs/kg). The total number of MPs retained in the sludge was 47,352±15,481 MPs/kg of dried sludge. Dried sewage sludge, after anaerobic digestion, was mostly used for soil application. A high number of MPs might pose a risk of soil contamination.



Figure 4.10 MP abundance based on size classes in sewage sludge samples from Din Daeng WWTP

4.1.3 Bang Sue WWTP

4.1.3.1 MP abundance

MPs samples were categorized into three size fractions according to the sieve size they were retained on: 1 - 5 mm, 0.5 - 1 mm, and 0.05 - 0.5 mm. Plastics larger than 5 mm were not found in this study. The number of MPs counted by an optical microscope (size fractions 1-5 mm and 0.5-1 mm) was combined with the number of 0.05-0.5 mm sized MPs from a fluorescence microscope. Percentage distributions of different size ranges of MPs are shown in Figure 4.11. It was found that most MPs in the treatment system were 0.05 - 0.5 mm (Figure 4.11). The size fraction of 0.05-0.5 mm MPs was the only group in the effluent from the UF unit (S5). No 1-5 mm MP was found in the effluent of secondary treatment (S4), which indicates that they were successfully removed after final clarification.

Figure 4.12 exhibits the number of MPs per L of wastewater at each treatment step. The average number of MPs entering the system was 77 ± 7.21 particles/L (S1), and a total of 10.67 ± 3.51 particles/L were discharged with the final effluent (S4) (Figure 4.12).



Figure 4.11 Percentage distribution of the different size classes of MPs during wastewater treatment steps of Bang Sue WWTP

S1 = after inlet pumping, S2 = after the grit trap, S3 = after the aeration tank, S4 = effluent from the final clarifier, S5 = effluent from ultrafiltration, and SS = sewage



sludge

Figure 4.12 Number of MP particles per liter of wastewater from treatment steps of Bang Sue WWTP

S1 = after inlet pumping, S2 = after the grit trap, S3 = after the aeration tank, S4 = effluent from the final clarifier, S5 = effluent from ultrafiltration, and SS = sewage sludge

4.1.3.2 MP removability

The size fraction of 1-5 mm was successfully removed after the secondary treatment (Table 4.5). The number of MPs removed after the grit chamber and fine screen (S2) was 25.55% (Table 4.5). The number of MPs increased in the aeration tank (S3) (Table 4.5) because MPs were retained in the sludge, returned to the tank, and resuspended, and there were no MPs removed during this process. Additionally, 81.91% of MPs were removed after the final clarifier (S4). Furthermore, there was a 78.16% reduction of MPs after the ultrafiltration in the tertiary treatment (S5). The removal efficiency was based on the number of MPs at the influent and effluent. The calculation of the overall removal efficiency resulted in 86.14% after the final clarifier and 96.97% after the tertiary treatment, respectively. The capacity of this WWTP is 120,000 m³/day in the dry season during the sample collection. If the maximum flow rate is reached, up to 1.28 ± 0.42 billion MP particles could be released daily into a freshwater ecosystem (Table 4.6). Adding a UF unit may reduce the MP loads released to the water bodies to 280±183 million MPs/day.

Table 4.5 Removal efficiencies of different size fractions at each treatment unit based

 on the average number in Bang Sue WWTP.

	Removal efficiency (%)					
Size fraction	Screening and grit removal	Secondary treatment	Ultra- filtration (UF)	Overall removal by a conventional treatment system	Overall removal by UF	
1-5 mm	38.43	61.57	-	100	100	
0.5-1 mm	34.29	73.91	100	82.85	100	
0.05-0.5 mm	30.88	78.71	65.07	85.29	94.86	
Total	25.55	81.91	78.16	86.14	96.97	

Sampling site MPs/L		million MPs/day
S1	77(±7.21)	9240±865
S2	57.33(±8.08)	6880±970
S3	96.67(±30.09)	11600±3611
S4	10.67(±3.51)	1280±421
S5	2.33(±1.53)	280±183

Table 4.6 Number of MPs released per day based on the treatment capacity from each sampling location in Bang Sue WWTP

4.1.3.3 MP morphologies and characterization

Fibers were found in both liquid fraction and sewage sludge (≥ 60 %) (Fig. 4.13). Even though large proportions of fibers were found in the effluent from secondary treatment (S4) and UF (S5), some of the fibers were removed by the final clarifier, and they were found in the sewage sludge (SS) (Figure 4.13). Although the mesh size of the UF is very fine, fibers can still escape due to their small size and morphology. A small proportion of film and fragments were also detected in the sludge (SS). Only 5.13 % (2 items) of microbeads were found in S2.



Figure 4.13 Percent distribution of different shapes of MP samples found at each sampling point in Bang Sue WWTP.

S1 = after inlet pumping, S2 = after the grit trap, S3 = after the aeration tank, S4 = effluent from the final clarifier, S5 = effluent from ultrafiltration, and SS = sewage sludge

MPs with a size fraction of 1-5 mm and 0.5-1 mm were analyzed with FTIR. Selected MP samples were large enough to be handled with tweezers. The 0.05-0.5 mm size range was tested by FT-IR connected with a microscope (micro-FTIR) and photographed. FT-IR and micro-FTIR successfully tested only 50% of all suspected particles. The results from both FT-IR and micro-FTIR showed that nine types of polymers were found in MP samples (Figure 4.14). The predominant polymer type was polyethylene terephthalate (PET) from suspected microfibers (Figure 4.14) (see Appendix B.1). Some fibers were identified as natural polymers, such as silk and cotton, and some particles were tested as organic debris, such as chipboard. The number of other natural materials was deducted from the total count.



Figure 4.14 Polymer-type distribution of MP samples from all sampling locations of Bang Sue WWTP

4.1.3.4 MP retention

Figure 4.15 shows the number of MPs based on size groups in sewage sludge samples from Bang Sue WWTP. The group of 0.05-0.5 mm MPs shows the largest contribution in sewage sludge (10,990 MPs/kg). The three size fractions of MPs combined resulted in $26,325 \pm 15,482$ MP particles/kg of sludge. However, the number of MPs in the sludge of this WWTP was only from excess sludge after final clarification. Sludge cake from UF was not included in the sampling and analysis.



Figure 4.15 MP abundance based on size classes in sewage sludge samples from Bang Sue WWTP

4.1.4 Sing Buri WWTP

4.1.4.1 MP abundance

The abundance of MPs at each treatment step was assessed by the 1-L grab sampling method. The investigation showed that particles larger than 5 mm were not found. The 0.05 - 0.5 mm size range is dominant in S2 and S4 (Figure 4.16). However, there is no significant difference between size ranges (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.16). The number of MPs found in the influent is 23±7.81 MPs/L, while an average of 27.67±6.66 was detected at the effluent (Figure 4.17). There was no effective removal in any stage of the waste stabilization pond. Thus, the removal efficiency of MPs cannot be calculated from this pond-based wastewater system. The number of MP discharged to

the river can be as high as 124.51 million particles per day if the plant reaches its maximum flow rate (Table 4.7). However, the average flow rate of this WWTP is only $1,500 \text{ m}^3/\text{day}$. Thus, about 41.5 million MPs are discharged daily (Table 4.7).





S1 = influent; S2 = outlet of anaerobic pond; S3 = outlet of facultative pond; S4= outlet of maturation pond or the effluent



Figure 4.17 Number of MP particles per L of wastewater from treatment steps of

Sing Buri WWTP

S1 = influent; S2 = outlet of anaerobic pond; S3 = outlet of facultative pond; S4= outlet of maturation pond or the effluent

Table 4.7 Number of MPs released per day from each sampling location based on the average number in Sing Buri WWTP

Sampling site	MPs/L	million MPs/day (average flow rate)	million MPs/day (maximum flow rate)	
S1	23(±7.81)	34.5(±11.72)	103.5(±35.15)	
S2	30(±10.15)	45(±8.76)	135(±26.28)	
S3	22(±6.08)	33(±9.12)	99(±27.37)	
S4	27.67(±6.66)	41.5(±9.99)	124.51(±29.96)	

4.1.4.2 MP morphologies and characterization

The dominant shape found in S2 to S4 was fiber, while fragments and fibers were not significantly different in S1 (p < 0.05) (Figure 4.18). An example of MPs identified by micro-FTIR is shown in appendix B.2. No microbead was found in this WWTP. A smaller proportion of fragments in S2 to S4 can be explained by settling high-density fragments to the bottom of the ponds. However, fibers are predominantly found in effluent like other WWTPs. This shape of MPs was considered the most challenging to eliminate from WWTPs.





outlet of maturation pond or the effluent

The results from FTIR and micro-FTIR show that PE is the most significant proportion of polymers in Sing Buri WWTP, followed by PET (Figure 4.19). PE was mainly observed in the form of fragments. Some other non-synthetic particles, such as zein, cellulose, and linen, were also detected in WWTP. These natural polymers were subtracted from the total count of MPs. There are various synthetic fibers in this WWTP, e.g., PET, polyester, Nylon, Rayon, and linen, a natural fiber. It reflects the lifestyle of the surrounding communities that the WWTP serves.



Figure 4.19 Polymer-type distribution of MP samples from all sampling locations of Sing Buri WWTP

4.1.4.3 In situ filtration vs. grab sampling

MP samples were collected by two different sampling methods to find the influence of sampling methods on the abundance of MPs. Samples were collected mainly from the influent and the effluent of the WWTP. In situ filtration was conducted by filtering 20 L of wastewater through a set of sieves, and 1 L of wastewater was collected in glass bottles with three replicates for grab sampling. The number of MPs collected by filtration and grab sampling is shown in Figure 4.20. The number of MPs captured by grab sampling was almost ten times higher than in situ filtrations (Figure 4.20). The magnitude of MPs captured by grab sampling was higher than by net-based sampling (Barrows et al., 2017; Green et al., 2018; Watkins et al., 2021). However, onsite filtration can filter a large volume of wastewater and yield a representative sample.



Figure 4.20 Number of MP particles per L of wastewater at the influent and effluent of Sing Buri WWTP from in situ filtration and grab sampling

F1 = influent by filtration; F2 = effluent by filtration; G1 = influent by grab sampling; G2 = effluent by grab sampling

4.1.4.4 MP retention

Sludge samples were collected from the bottom of the facultative pond by grab sampling. MPs were retained in the sludge but not as high as WWTPs in this study. Figure 4.21 shows the abundance of MPs in the sludge from Sing Buri WWTP. It indicates that some of the MPs settled down to the bottom of the pond with the sludge. The average number of MPs was 1613±500 MPs/kg of dried sludge. However, the number of 0.05-0.5 mm MPs was the lowest among the three size fractions in the sludge samples. It implies that this size fraction has a lower ability to settle down due to its size and lightweight.



Figure 4.21 MP abundance based on size classes in bottom sludge from Sing Buri

WWTP

4.1.4.5 Atmospheric deposition

Passive samplers were left at random locations near waste stabilization ponds for 10 hours. The area of a receiving funnel was taken into consideration. The dry deposition rate of MPs was expressed as MPs/m²/day. Before counting and analysis, samples were processed in the same manner as MP samples in the liquid phase. The number of MPs was counted under a microscope. The results show that the atmospheric deposition rate of MPs in Sing Buri WWTP is 161.60±28.93 MP/m²/day. The total area of three ponds is approximately 107,520 m². It results in the deposition of 17.37 million MPs/day. The most significant proportion of airborne MPs was 0.05-0.5 mm, which is predominantly 100 times higher than 1-5 mm MPs (Figure 4.22). Fiber accounted for 74.75% of the total MPs, and fragments were 25.25% of the total count (Figure 4.23). No other shapes of MPs were detected. Carbon soot produced from incomplete combustion of fossil fuel may be a source of contamination in atmospheric samples. Due to its inert property, carbon soot cannot be digested by wet peroxide oxidation. The atmospheric contamination may influence the higher number of MPs in the pond system.



Figure 4.22 Size-based MP atmospheric deposition in Sing Buri WWTP



Figure 4.23 Shape percentage distribution of atmospheric MPs from Sing Buri WWTP

4.2 Comparison of MP abundances and removability in WWTPs

Table 4.8 indicates summarized data of the studied WWTPs, the level of MP contamination, and the overall MP removal efficiencies. Combined sewer overflow is a system that collects wastewater together with runoff and sends it to every WWTP in this study. The highest number of MPs in the influent was from Bang Sue WWTP, with a population of 227,660. Despite the larger population in the service area of Din Daeng and Nong Khaem WWTPs, the influent had fewer MPs. The number of different types of residents in the service area of the three WWTPs in Bangkok is shown in Appendix A. Three WWTPs employ activated sludge processes with different configurations for wastewater treatment, but Bang Sue WWTP was equipped with the UF unit. It resulted in the highest MP removal efficiency (96.97%) among all studied WWTPs. When only a conventional system of Bang Sue WWTP was considered, it also exhibited the highest overall removal percentage (86.14%) among all studied conventional systems. One of the reasons is that Bang Sue WWTP was constructed as a closed underground treatment system that can lower airborne MP contamination. There is also a scum skimmer at the clarification tank of Bang Sue WWTP, which can remove low-density and floating MPs (Figure 4.24). On the contrary, the clarifiers of other WWTPs (Nong Khaem and Bang Sue) are placed outdoors, prone to atmospheric contamination.

Table 4.8 Summary of MP abundances and overall removal efficiencies of four studied

 WWTPs.

WWTPs	Population equivalent	Treatment technology	Sampling method	Inlet (MPs/L)	Outlet (MPs/L)	Overall removal efficiency (%)
Nong Khaem WWTP	520,000	Vertical loop reactor	20-L in situ filtration	26.6±11.8	14.75±4.58	44.55
Din Daeng WWTP	1,080,000	Activated sludge	20-L in situ filtration	16.55±9.92	3.52±1.43	78.73

Bang Sue WWTP	227,660	Activated sludge (Anoxic- aerobic) coupled with Ultrafiltratio n (UF)	1-L grab sampling	77±7.21	10.67±3.51 (2.33±1.53) a	86.14 (96.97) ^a
Sing		Waste	1-L grab sampling	31.33±6.66	30.33±3.21	3.19
Buri WWTP	17,000	stabilization pond	20-L in situ filtration	3.50±1.13	3.77±0.90	-

^a the effluent of a UF unit



Figure 4.24 A scum skimmer at the clarifiers of Bang Sue WWTP

Nong Khaem WWTP is the only WWTP where the flocculation agent (FeCl₃) is added during the clarification process. Flocculation agents can enhance the aggregation of flocs and the removal of MPs with the settled sludge flocs (Murphy et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2019). However, the WWTP achieved the lowest removal efficiency among conventional WWTPs, and only 14.24% of MPs were removed by secondary treatment. The important factor affecting MP removal is retention time in the

clarifiers. It might be due to a short retention time or the redistribution of MPs in the aeration tanks by recycled sludge (Carr et al., 2016). MPs in this WWTP comprised a large proportion of fibers (>80%) because the textile industry surrounded the WWTP. Fibers are considered the most challenging type of MPs to remove due to their smooth surface and morphology (Long et al., 2019). It might be a reason for the relatively low removal rate in Nong Khaem WWTP.

Sing Buri WWTP has the lowest population equivalent, but the number of MPs from 1 L grab sampling was higher than 2 WWTPs in Bangkok besides Bang Sue WWTP. On the other hand, MP abundances from on-site filtration are ten times lower than grab samples. Due to water pressure from a huge volume of water continuously filtered, small MP particles and fibers may escape even the smallest size of the sieve. It implies that different sampling methods influence the abundance of MPs in the same WWTP. The removal efficiency of Sing Buri WWTP was not significant and relatively low (3.19%) compared to other studied WWTPs. Despite the number of MPs found in the bottom sludge of Sing Buri WWTP, the abundance of MPs in the atmospheric deposition was considerably high. Results show from this study show that the waste stabilization pond is ineffective in reducing MPs. Gao et al. (2021) found a high concentration of MPs in duckweed (aquatic plant) in waste stabilization ponds, and as high as 789,000 MP particles were released daily from the pond effluent. However, this study's MP removal efficiency of waste stabilization ponds was not estimated (Gao et al., 2021).

A conventional system of Bang Sue WWTP removed MPs by 86.14%, which is higher than conventional WWTPs in other studies (Akarsu et al., 2020; Gündoğdu et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2019) but lower than conventional WWTPs in several studies (Bayo et al., 2020b; Edo et al., 2020; Murphy et al., 2016). The removal efficiency of Bang Sue WWTP by the UF unit following a study by Mintenig et al. (2017). A WWTP with post-filtration achieves a 97% removal rate (Mintenig et al., 2017). MP retention rate of Din Daeng WWTP (78.73%) also corresponds with conventional WWTPs in a study by Gündoğdu et al. (2018) (73 and 79%), and the similar smallest mesh sizes were used in the analysis. On the contrary, the percentage removal of Nong Khaem WWTP is the lowest compared to other conventional WWTPs, as shown in Table 2.1, because of a large proportion of fibers which is the most difficult to remove. In addition, the removal rate of Sing Buri WWTP is not comparable with the same type of WWTP because no study has been conducted on the MP removal efficiency of waste stabilization ponds until now. However, comparing the removal with other studies may not be reliable as the unit process design may differ in each treatment plant. It also depends on the MPs present in the influent to WWTPs.

4.3 Size- and shape-based removal of MPs

The 0.05-0.5 mm MPs group was the most significant proportion of MPs in the effluent from four WWTPs. Due to the lack of primary sedimentation tanks in Din Daeng, Nong Khaem, and Bang Sue WWTP, the removal of MPs depends on only final clarification after secondary treatment. Many studies suggested that the primary settling tank is the most crucial unit for MP removal (Gies et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2019; Murphy et al., 2016). Skimming and settling processes in primary treatment can remove a significant number of MPs (Carr et al., 2016; Lares et al., 2018). In addition, fibers can be easily trapped with grit or attached to larger particles and settled down in the primary settling tank (Talvitie et al., 2017b). The size range of 0.5-1 mm MPs was easily removed during primary treatment, while smaller particles (< 0.5 mm) were more likely to be trapped during final clarification (Liu et al., 2021).

Despite the utilization of UF with very fine pore sizes, MPs were found in the effluent from the UF unit. These particles might escape from larger-sized pores, membrane imperfections, or gaps between pipework (Ziajahromi et al., 2017). MPs with a size range of 20-100 μ m could bypass every treatment stage, including tertiary treatment (Salvador Cesa et al., 2017). Advanced treatment technologies may increase the removal rate but not completely diminish these small-sized particles.

Fibers were detected as the most abundant shape in the effluent of all studied WWTPs. Three WWTPs with a conventional treatment system do not contain primary sedimentation as it is suggested to be an effective step for removing textile fibers (Talvitie et al., 2015). On the other hand, secondary treatment can significantly reduce synthetic particles more efficiently (Talvitie et al., 2015). MP fibers were mostly made of PET which is a high-density polymer. Thus, PET polymer is easily removed by

physical sedimentation in primary treatment (Ngo et al., 2019). Adding a primary sedimentation tank may improve the removal efficiency of fibers, which is the most problematic MPs in wastewater treatment systems. However, some fibers are neutrally buoyant, which are not easily eliminated by a skimmer (Ngo et al., 2019). Due to their longitudinal shape, fibers can escape every treatment process (Liu et al., 2021). Fibers were found after membrane filtration due to their small size and shape (Talvitie et al., 2017a).

On the other hand, low-density MPs, such as fragments made of PE, float on the surface of the clarification tank. The skimming process can easily eliminate them. A scum skimmer may enhance the removal of low-density MPs.

4.4 Potential sources of MPs in WWTPs

WWTPs in this study receive wastewater from not only domestic wastewater but also combined sewer overflows. Fibers, as the most abundant group, were confirmed by FT-IR to be either PET fibers or polyester. PET is a sub-group of polyester fibers and is a predominant group in fiber production (Militky, 2009). These types of fibers are likely derived from clothes. Moreover, other types of fibers were also observed in the WWTPs, e.g., Nylon, Rayon, and linen. Even though linen is a natural polymer, natural polymers have been suggested as a carrier for harmful substances due to their treatment with chemical additives during manufacturing (Talvitie et al., 2017b). Laundering was suggested to be a significant source of MP fiber in WWTPs (Zambrano et al., 2019). A single garment can shed more than 1,900 fibers per wash (Browne et al., 2011), or approximately 700,000 fibers are discharged per average wash load (Napper & Thompson, 2016). Among synthetic textiles, clothes made from polyester lose the highest amount of fibers during laundry (Almroth et al., 2018). Washing using detergent could release more fibers than washing with only water, and the increasing washing temperature also affects fiber shedding (Yang et al., 2019b). Due to the high surface-to-area ratio of fibers compared to other shapes of MPs, fibers can adsorb more contaminants and pose a threat to human health and living organisms (Astrom, 2016).

However, not every fiber in WWTPs comes from washing clothes. Plastic fibers are spun in the form of strings, ropes, cables, and optical fibers. Moreover, some plastic products are fragmented into fibers depend on the fabrication method. For example, thermosets, cross-linked polymer chains, include vinyl ester, epoxy, phenolic, cyanate ester, polyurethane, polyimide (Erden & Ho, 2017). Fibers are commonly incorporated to enhance the properties of plastics leading to composite materials such as glass fibers which are used as reinforcement for plastics (Biron, 2020).

Personal care products were expected to be abundant in WWTPs. However, the number of microbeads found in this study was mostly negligible. One reason is the legislation of the microbead ban in Thailand since January 1, 2020 (FDA, 2019). On the other hand, microbeads might be fragmented during treatment processes resulting in irregular-shaped PE. Most of the PE fragments observed in this study are either opaque or transparent. They might be derived from the fragmentation of plastic containers. Unlike a study by Carr et al., irregular-shaped PE fragments were blue similar to those in toothpaste (Carr et al., 2016). It indicates that microbeads in personal care products can appear in the form of fragments due to the breakdown during the treatment processes.

PP is another large group of polymers in all studied WWTPs. PP is used in manufacturing food packaging, wrapper, hinged caps, containers, and pipes (Plastics Europe, 2017). PP found in the form of MPs can be derived from the fragmentation of sewage pipes or packaging, wrapper, and household containers.

Some of the MPs in Din Daeng and Bang Sue WWTPs were identified as a group of acrylic polymers. Acrylic polymers are used for lighting, electronic screen, automotive components, and outdoor glazing in architecture and construction (Chan et al., 2022). Acrylics have also been used in the coating industry due to their UV stability (Bierwagen et al., 2017).

Silicone polymer is another type of polymer detected in Nong Khaem WWTP. Silicone can be made in the form of fluids, greases, emulsions, elastomers (rubber), and resins (Greenwood & Earnshaw, 2012). Silicones have been used in various applications, e.g., insulation, sealant, and adhesive (Greenwood & Earnshaw, 2012). PS is the last group of polymers found in Nong Khaem WWTP and a small percentage in Bang Sue WWTP. PS is used for plastic cups, egg trays, packaging, and building insulation (Plastics Europe, 2017).

Other types of polymers found in Din Daeng WWTP were polyether urethane (medical applications), poly(ethylene:propylene: diene) (EPDM: synthetic rubber), PU (furniture and insulation), and alkyd (polyester resins used for coating). Poly(ethylene:propylene: diene) was also found in Bang Sue and Sing Buri WWTPs in the form of EPDM rubber and ethylene-propylene co-polymers, respectively, based on the spectral library.

Despite the high demand for PU, PS, and PVC plastics, according to PlasticsEurope (2021), they were detected in a small proportion, and PVC was present in only Sing Buri WWTP. Fragmentation of this plastic product can create MPs, but they may not be directly discharged into the household sewer.

4.5 MP contamination in sludge

The number of MPs in sludge samples from this study ranged from 1,613–26,326 MP particles per kg of sludge (dry weight) (Figure 4.25). MPs in the sludge from Sing Buri WWTP were the least abundant among other WWTPs. It is because Sing Buri WWTP has the lowest MP retention rate. The removal of MPs in a facultative pond depends solely on gravitational settling, unlike other WWTPs. MPs can be retained by the entrapment of sludge flocs and settling down at the clarification tanks.

MP abundance in the sludge of Bang Sue WWTP was the highest among studied WWTPs. Despite the highest removal rate by secondary treatment, the number of MPs captured in sludge was lower than Din Daeng WWTP, with a percentage removal of 59.77% after secondary clarification. It can be explained by removing MPs from settling and skimming in Bang Sue WWTP. MPs were not only reduced by settling at the clarifiers but also skimmed off by a scum skimmer at the clarification tanks. However, this study did not include the number of MPs captured in the scum.



Figure 4.25 Size-based MP abundances in sludge from 4 WWTPs: Nong Khaem, Din Daeng, Bang Sue, and Sing Buri

Most of the excess sludge from the WWTPs in Bangkok is delivered to a sludge treatment facility for anaerobic digestion. The anaerobic digestion for sludge treatment potentially reduces MP concentration in sewage sludge (Mahon et al., 2016). This is due to specific enzymes from microorganisms that can break down the polymer structure of MPs into monomers (Othman et al., 2021). However, further study should focus on the microorganisms' breakdown of MPs into nano-plastics.

Air-dried sludge is usually used for soil application. Sewage sludge which contains a high number of MPs may lead to soil contamination because MPs were only transferred from the liquid phase to the solid phase. Fibers and microbeads were found in agricultural soil applied with sewage sludge (Chen et al., 2020). The characteristics of MP fibers remain the same as they were in the sludge for many years after the application (Zubris & Richards, 2005). MPs can spread to the surrounding area where there is no sludge application (Tagg et al., 2021). MPs were detected in agricultural plant roots (Yu et al., 2021). Some edible vegetables, for example, lettuces, could uptake small-sized polystyrene and transfer it to other plant parts (Li et al., 2019). MPs negatively impact fauna and flora in soil, and they pose a risk to human health when

chemicals are transferred through the food chain (Kumar et al., 2020). Besides the risk of chemical leaching in soil, MPs can also transport from soil to water by surface runoff.

Incineration is expected to be a promising treatment for eliminating MPs from sewage sludge. On the contrary, MPs were detected in bottom ash and fly ash from the incinerator (Shen et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2021b). Another sludge treatment method, lime stabilization, increased the abundance of MPs due to shearing effects (Mahon et al., 2016). Hydrothermal liquefaction is a newly developed method for recycling sludge containing MPs. Bio-crude oil is produced from MP-rich sludge, and MP concentration is reduced in a residual product which can be further used as a fertilizer (Chand et al., 2022). Thus, sludge treatment for land application and disposal needs to be developed to prevent the further spread of MPs to terrestrial environments.

4.6 Limitations of sampling methods

Only grab sampling was performed in Bang Sue WWTP due to an underground system, and it results in the highest quantity of MPs in the influent. On the other hand, grab sampling and on-site filtration were performed parallelly in Sing Buri WWTP. Grab sampling results in about ten times higher number of MPs in the influent than 20-L on-site filtration. A significant portion of fibers can potentially be lost from the net and they may slip through a series of sieves (Watkins et al., 2021). Some of captured fibers may not be transferred to the container for lab processing. It results in some fiber loss during sample collection. Concerns of contamination for net-based sampling are air exposure time, MPs in rinse water, and MP contamination from the net (Barrows et al., 2017). On the other hand, grab sampling can only collect small-volume samples which might be largely contaminated by fibers (Green et al., 2018). However, grab sampling is simple and low-cost equipment demands which can be easily integrated into long-term or citizen science monitoring initiatives (Barrows et al., 2017). Grab sampling method can be utilized with existing environmental surveys to record patterns of MP contamination over space and time (Green et al., 2018). Thus, it has been suggested to use the combination of methods for an overall understanding of the concentrations (Barrows et al., 2017).

MPs can be overestimated by contamination from sampling vessels, researchers, surroundings, processing materials, and misidentification of non-plastic particles (Watkins et al., 2021). Moreover, factors that lead to underestimations of MPs include passing of small particles through mesh, low sample volume, net volume overestimated, full sample not transferred for analysis (Watkins et al., 2021).

4.7 Gaps in the current WWTPs

WWTPs are the ultimate barrier before MPs enter water bodies. The WWTPs in this study were designed to eliminate the contaminants of concern and meet the treated effluent standards. However, three conventional WWTPs are deprived of primary sedimentation, and two of them lack scum skimmers. The primary settlement has been suggested to remove fibers significantly (Talvitie et al., 2015), while skimming processes play a major role in removing lightweight MPs (Sun et al., 2019). Several studies have also suggested that the most important unit for MP removal is the primary skimming and settling stage (Carr et al., 2016; Murphy et al., 2016). The addition of primary sedimentation tanks and scum skimmers in conventional WWTPs may improve the removal rate of MPs and reduce the number of MPs released into the aquatic environment.

In addition, only one WWTP among WWTPs in Bangkok is currently equipped with tertiary treatment, and the UF unit in this WWTP is not fully operated. Tertiary treatment steps as a final polishing step can increase the overall removal rate of WWTPs (Talvitie et al., 2017a) and diminish MPs with specific properties and small-sized particles (Liu et al., 2021). WWTPs with tertiary treatment, especially MBR, achieved a higher percentage of MP removal, as reported by other studies (Table 2.1). It is necessary to consider tertiary filtration or advanced treatment to improve the quality of treated wastewater in terms of MPs.

4.8 Potential solutions

Fibers for laundering activities are the major type of MPs found in wastewater effluent. It is important to control the amount of fiber emission at the source. Some studies have suggested mitigation measures for MP fiber reduction at sources. McIlwraith et al. (2019) investigated two technologies to prevent fiber emission: a laundry ball that can capture fibers from flowing water and an external filter for washing machine discharge. The study found that both technologies significantly reduced MP fibers in washing machines (McIlwraith et al., 2019). The external filter with a pore size of 60 μ m reduced 78% of microfibers from the washing machine effluent (Napper et al., 2020). Erdle et al. (2021) studied the efficiency of washing machine filters at a community level. Installing filters on a larger scale effectively lowers the concentration of MP fibers in the connected WWTP (Erdle et al., 2021). These technologies have been suggested to control fiber emissions from laundering activities.

As the combined sewer system is employed in Bangkok Metropolitan Area, WWTPs receive both domestic and stormwater runoff wastewater. During heavy rainfall, combined sewer overflows (CSOs) are discharged directly into water bodies without treatment. Untreated CSOs might contain a high concentration of MPs and become a significant source of MPs in the aquatic environment. Therefore, measures to prevent MP load from CSOs require attention.

Filters can be installed at the end of the pipes to remove a portion of MPs. Using retention soil filters effectively removes micropollutants in CSOs (Brunsch et al., 2020). The high-rate filtration technology is an alternative to CSO treatment which has a lower investment than separating sewage and stormwater runoff (Helness et al., 2019). This filtration approach can reduce suspended solids in the CSOs by 50% (Helness et al., 2019). Moreover, the constructed wetland is another solution to reduce MP concentration and other pollutants. CSOs treatment by constructed wetlands effectively removes conventional, emerging, and pathogenic pollutants (Rizzo et al., 2020). Studies have suggested that constructed wetlands are a promising approach for MP removal (Lu et al., 2022; Xu et al., 2022; Zhou et al., 2022). MP retention rate of sand-filled constructed wetlands on lab-scale was more than 98.8% (Wang et al., 2021b).

In the case of sub-urban and urban provinces with no WWTP, constructed wetlands can be utilized to prevent the spread of MPs into the aquatic environment. The MP removal efficiency of more than 89% by constructed wetlands has been reported in China (Zhou et al., 2022). Constructed wetlands utilized as tertiary treatment step has

the average MP removal rate of 88%, and it has been suggested as an efficient filter for preventing MPs transport to aquatic systems (Wang et al., 2020). However, constructed wetlands require spaces for construction. Therefore, rapid sand filtration is one of wastewater treatment methods which showed high removal efficiency of 97% (Talvitie et al., 2017a). It is also considered cost-effective method when compared to MBR system (Iyare et al., 2020). Rapid sand filter can be an alternative for MP removal before they enter the aquatic environment.



CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Conclusion

WWTPs are one of the important land-based sources of MPs in the aquatic and marine environment. Four WWTPs investigated in this study showed different removal as all four plants differ. Bang Sue WWTP, constructed as a closed underground system, achieved the highest MP removal percentage among studied WWTPs. The underground system prevents airborne contamination, and MPs were removed by the scum skimmer at the clarifiers and settled with the sludge. This WWTP is equipped with the UF unit, which increases the overall removal to 96.97%. The advanced filtration further removed larger-sized MPs remaining in the secondary effluent. However, the operation of the UF unit in this WWTP is still on a pilot scale. The removal efficiency attained by a WWTP with a waste stabilization pond was minimal. MPs from atmospheric deposition may increase the abundance of MPs in the pond system. Moreover, sampling methods (on-site filtration and grab sampling) influence the quantity of MPs.

Three conventional WWTPs lack a primary settling tank which has been suggested to remove some types of MPs efficiently. The addition of membrane filtration enhances the removal rate. Despite the effective removal by the UF, a considerable number of MPs are discharged daily to the recipient water due to a large volume of treated wastewater. Therefore, the elimination of MPs should not rely only on the wastewater treatment system. Reducing plastic waste at sources, such as filters at washing machines to prevent fiber loss, is another solution to consider.

MPs are retained in sewage sludge after they are removed from wastewater. Sewage sludge from conventional WWTPs in Bangkok is treated with anaerobic digestion before land application. Introducing sludge containing MPs in the soil can spread microplastics to the terrestrial environment. Moreover, the accumulation of MPs was found in some edible plants, which can be transferred to human bodies. Therefore, the management and technology of MPs-rich sludge should be developed. This study shows that the WWTP design and treatment technologies influence MP removal. Final-stage technologies, such as membrane filtration, play an essential role in removing MPs.

5.2 Recommendation for future study

In this study, even though there is an absence of primary sedimentation and the skimming process is applied in only one conventional WWTP, the discharge quality of treated water meets the standard (e.g., pH, total suspended solids, BOD, and COD). To improve the removal of this emerging pollutant (MPs), WWTPs need an upgrade. Including primary settling and skimming in conventional WWTP may reduce the concentration of MP released to water bodies. Moreover, the removal of MPs in conventional WWTPs is involved with biological processes in secondary treatment. The effects of biofilms on MP surface and the fate of MPs in aeration tanks should be further investigated. In addition, a lab-scale experiment can be set up to verify the most effective method for MP removal and improve current wastewater treatment systems for MP removal.

This study found that UF as tertiary filtration is effective in removing MPs. The addition of advanced treatment must consider many factors, such as cost-effectiveness, plant design, area availability, and population. Fibers are the most abundant type of MPs in the wastewater treatment system and can escape the small pore size of UF. Thus, fibers should be reduced not only by the treatment but also at sources by filtering at washing machine discharge. The design of tertiary treatment needs to consider the complexity of wastewater being processed and the contaminants of concern to improve the quality of treated wastewater. The investment in advanced technologies should consider the long-term effects of MP pollution.

Only ten spots of the smaller size range of MPs on filter papers were randomly selected and identified by micro-FTIR. The number of spots selected for micro-FTIR should be increased to enhance the success rate. As MPs in the size range of 0.05-0.5 mm were investigated in this study, smaller-sized MPs (down to 1 μ m) should be further focused. Due to degradation, small-sized MPs are more abundant in the environment than larger MPs.

REFERENCES

- Agamuthu, P. (2018). Marine debris, plastics, microplastics and nano-plastics: What next? *Waste Management & Research, 36*(10), 869-871. doi:10.1177/0734242X18796770
- Akarsu, C., Kumbur, H., Gökdağ, K., Kıdeyş, A. E., & Sanchez-Vidal, A. (2020).
 Microplastics composition and load from three wastewater treatment plants discharging into Mersin Bay, north eastern Mediterranean Sea. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 150, 110776.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110776
- Akkajit, P., Thongnonghin, S., Sriraksa, S., & Pumsri, S. (2019). Preliminary Study of Distribution and Quantity of Plastic-debris on Beaches Along the Coast at Phuket Province. *Applied Environmental Research*, 54-62. doi:10.35762/AER.2019.41.2.5
- Almroth, B. C., Åström, L., Roslund, S., Petersson, H., Johansson, M., & Persson, N.-K. (2018). Quantifying shedding of synthetic fibers from textiles; a source of microplastics released into the environment. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25. doi:10.1007/s11356-017-0528-7
- Anderson, Z. T., Cundy, A. B., Croudace, I. W., Warwick, P. E., Celis-Hernandez, O., & Stead, J. L. (2018). A rapid method for assessing the accumulation of microplastics in the sea surface microlayer (SML) of estuarine systems. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1). doi:10.1038/s41598-018-27612-w
- Andrady, A. L., & Neal, M. A. (2009). Applications and societal benefits of plastics.
 Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B,
 Biological sciences, 364(1526), 1977-1984. doi:10.1098/rstb.2008.0304
- Araujo, C. F., Nolasco, M. M., Ribeiro, A. M. P., & Ribeiro-Claro, P. J. A. (2018). Identification of microplastics using Raman spectroscopy: Latest developments and future prospects. *Water Research*, 142, 426-440. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.05.060</u>
- Astrom, L. (2016). Shedding of synthetic microfibers from textiles. Retrieved from https://bioenv.gu.se/digitalAssets/1568/1568686_linn%2D%2Dstr%2D%2 Dm.pdf

- Avio, C. G., Gorbi, S., Milan, M., Benedetti, M., Fattorini, D., d'Errico, G., ...
 Regoli, F. (2015). Pollutants bioavailability and toxicological risk from microplastics to marine mussels. *Environmental Pollution*, 198, 211-222. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2014.12.021</u>
- Avio, C. G., Gorbi, S., & Regoli, F. (2017). Plastics and microplastics in the oceans: From emerging pollutants to emerged threat. *Marine Environmental Research*, 128, 2-11. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.05.012
- Barboza, L., Cózar, A., Gimenez, B., Lima Barros, T., Kershaw, P., & Guilhermino, L. (2018). Chapter 17 - Macroplastics Pollution in the Marine Environment. In (pp. 305-328).
- Barnes, D. K. A., Galgani, F., Thompson, R. C., & Barlaz, M. (2009). Accumulation and fragmentation of plastic debris in global environments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1526), 1985-1998. doi:doi:10.1098/rstb.2008.0205
- Barrows, A., Neumann, C., Berger, M., & Shaw, S. (2017). Grab vs. neuston tow net: a microplastic sampling performance comparison and possible advances in the field. *Anal. Methods*, 9.
- Bassin, J. P., Castro, F. D., Valério, R. R., Santiago, E. P., Lemos, F. R., & Bassin, I.
 D. (2021). Chapter 16 The impact of wastewater treatment plants on global climate change. In B. Thokchom, P. Qiu, P. Singh, & P. K. Iyer (Eds.), *Water Conservation in the Era of Global Climate Change* (pp. 367-410): Elsevier.
- Bayo, J., López-Castellanos, J., & Olmos, S. (2020a). Membrane bioreactor and rapid sand filtration for the removal of microplastics in an urban wastewater treatment plant. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *156*, 111211. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111211
- Bayo, J., Olmos, S., & López-Castellanos, J. (2020b). Microplastics in an urban wastewater treatment plant: The influence of physicochemical parameters and environmental factors. *Chemosphere*, 238, 124593.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.124593
- Bierwagen, G. P., Huovinen, A. M., & Bhuiyan, M. S. H. (2017). Paint Formulation.In *Reference Module in Materials Science and Materials Engineering*:Elsevier.

- Biron, M. (2020). 5 Eco-Design Rules for Plastics Sustainability. In M. Biron (Ed.), A Practical Guide to Plastics Sustainability (pp. 159-207): William Andrew Publishing.
- Bissen, R., & Chawchai, S. (2020). Microplastics on beaches along the eastern Gulf of Thailand – A preliminary study. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 157, 111345. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111345
- Bläsing, M., & Amelung, W. (2018). Plastics in soil: Analytical methods and possible sources. *Science of The Total Environment*, 612, 422-435. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.08.086
- Boucher, J., & Friot, D. (2017). Primary Microplastics in the Oceans: A Global Evaluation of Sources. In J. Sousa (Ed.): IUCN.
- Browne, M. A., Crump, P., Niven, S. J., Teuten, E., Tonkin, A., Galloway, T., & Thompson, R. (2011). Accumulation of Microplastic on Shorelines Woldwide: Sources and Sinks. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(21), 9175-9179. doi:10.1021/es201811s
- Browne, M. A., Galloway, T., & Thompson, R. (2007a). Microplastic--an emerging contaminant of potential concern? *Integr Environ Assess Manag*, 3(4), 559-561. doi:10.1002/ieam.5630030412
- Browne, M. A., Galloway, T., & Thompson, R. (2007b). Microplastic--an emerging contaminant of potential concern? *Integrated environmental assessment and management*, 3(4), 559-561. doi:10.1897/1551-3793(2007)3[559:LD]2.0.CO;2
- Brunsch, A. F., Zubieta Florez, P., Langenhoff, A. A. M., ter Laak, T. L., & Rijnaarts, H. H. M. (2020). Retention soil filters for the treatment of sewage treatment plant effluent and combined sewer overflow. *Science of The Total Environment*, 699, 134426.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134426
- Cai, L., Wang, J., Peng, J., Wu, Z., & Tan, X. (2018). Observation of the degradation of three types of plastic pellets exposed to UV irradiation in three different environments. *Science of The Total Environment*, 628-629, 740-747. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.02.079</u>

- Carr, S. A., Liu, J., & Tesoro, A. G. (2016). Transport and fate of microplastic particles in wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research*, 91, 174-182. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.01.002</u>
- Cesa, F. S., Turra, A., & Baruque-Ramos, J. (2017). Synthetic fibers as microplastics in the marine environment: A review from textile perspective with a focus on domestic washings. *Science of The Total Environment*, 598, 1116-1129. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.04.172
- Chan, J. X., Hassan, A., Wong, J. F., & Majeed, K. (2022). Plastics in Outdoor Applications. In M. S. J. Hashmi (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Materials: Plastics* and Polymers (pp. 237-248). Oxford: Elsevier.
- Chand, R., Kohansal, K., Toor, S., Pedersen, T. H., & Vollertsen, J. (2022).
 Microplastics degradation through hydrothermal liquefaction of wastewater treatment sludge. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 335, 130383.
 doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.130383</u>
- Chen, R., Qi, M., Zhang, G., & Yi, C. (2018). Comparative experiments on polymer degradation technique of produced water of polymer flooding oilfield. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 113, 012208. doi:10.1088/1755-1315/113/1/012208
- Chen, Y., Leng, Y., Liu, X., & Wang, J. (2020). Microplastic pollution in vegetable farmlands of suburb Wuhan, central China. *Environmental Pollution*, 257, 113449. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113449</u>
- Claessens, M., Van Cauwenberghe, L., Vandegehuchte, M. B., & Janssen, C. R. (2013). New techniques for the detection of microplastics in sediments and field collected organisms. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 70(1), 227-233. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.03.009
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C., & Galloway, T. S. (2011). Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: A review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(12), 2588-2597. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.09.025</u>
- Conkle, J. L., Báez Del Valle, C. D., & Turner, J. W. (2018). Are We Underestimating Microplastic Contamination in Aquatic Environments? *Environmental management*, 61(1), 1-8. doi:10.1007/s00267-017-0947-8

- Conley, K., Clum, A., Deepe, J., Lane, H., & Beckingham, B. (2019). Wastewater treatment plants as a source of microplastics to an urban estuary: Removal efficiencies and loading per capita over one year. *Water Research X, 3*, 100030. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wroa.2019.100030
- Cooper, D. A., & Corcoran, P. L. (2010). Effects of mechanical and chemical processes on the degradation of plastic beach debris on the island of Kauai, Hawaii. *Mar Pollut Bull*, 60(5), 650-654.
 doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2009.12.026
- Crini, G., & Lichtfouse, E. (2019). Advantages and disadvantages of techniques used for wastewater treatment. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 17(1), 145-155. doi:10.1007/s10311-018-0785-9
- Da Costa, J., Duarte, A., & Rocha-Santos, T. (2016). Microplastics Occurrence,
 Fate and Behaviour in the Environment. In T. Rocha-Santos & A. C. Duarte (Eds.), *Comprehensive Analytical Chemistry* (Vol. 75, pp. 1-24): Elsevier.
- Da Costa, J. P., Nunes, A. R., Santos, P. S. M., Girão, A. V., Duarte, A. C., & Rocha-Santos, T. (2018). Degradation of polyethylene microplastics in seawater: Insights into the environmental degradation of polymers. *J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng*, 53(9), 866-875. doi:10.1080/10934529.2018.1455381
- Dris, R., Gasperi, J., Rocher, V., Saad, M., Renault, N., & Tassin, B. (2015).
 Microplastic contamination in an urban area: a case study in Greater Paris. *Environmental Chemistry*, 12(5), 592-599. doi:https://doi.org/10.1071/EN14167
- Duis, K., & Coors, A. (2016). Microplastics in the aquatic and terrestrial environment: sources (with a specific focus on personal care products), fate and effects.
 Environmental Sciences Europe, 28(1), 2. doi:10.1186/s12302-015-0069-y
- Dyachenko, A., Mitchell, J., & Arsem, N. (2016). Extraction and Identification of Microplastic Particles from Secondary Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP) Effluent. Anal. Methods, 9. doi:10.1039/C6AY02397E
- Edo, C., González-Pleiter, M., Leganés, F., Fernández-Piñas, F., & Rosal, R. (2020). Fate of microplastics in wastewater treatment plants and their environmental

dispersion with effluent and sludge. *Environmental Pollution*, 259, 113837. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113837

- Eerkes-Medrano, D., Thompson, R. C., & Aldridge, D. C. (2015). Microplastics in freshwater systems: A review of the emerging threats, identification of knowledge gaps and prioritisation of research needs. *Water Research*, 75, 63-82. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.02.012</u>
- El-Shahawi, M. S., Hamza, A., Bashammakh, A. S., & Al-Saggaf, W. T. (2010). An overview on the accumulation, distribution, transformations, toxicity and analytical methods for the monitoring of persistent organic pollutants. *Talanta*, 80(5), 1587-1597. doi:10.1016/j.talanta.2009.09.055
- Enfrin, M., Lee, J., Le-Clech, P., & Dumée, L. F. (2020). Kinetic and mechanistic aspects of ultrafiltration membrane fouling by nano- and microplastics. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 601, 117890. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2020.117890</u>
- Engineer, C., Parikh, J., & Raval, A. (2011). Review on hydrolytic degradation behavior of biodegradable polymers from controlled drug delivery system. *Trends in Biomaterials and Artificial Organs, 25*, 79+. Retrieved from <u>https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A308434334/AONE?u=anon~d4706ffb&sid=g</u> <u>oogleScholar&xid=67850ad9</u>
- Erden, S., & Ho, K. (2017). 3 Fiber reinforced composites. In M. Ö. Seydibeyoğlu,
 A. K. Mohanty, & M. Misra (Eds.), *Fiber Technology for Fiber-Reinforced Composites* (pp. 51-79): Woodhead Publishing.
- Erdle, L. M., Nouri Parto, D., Sweetnam, D., & Rochman, C. M. (2021). Washing Machine Filters Reduce Microfiber Emissions: Evidence From a Community-Scale Pilot in Parry Sound, Ontario. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8. doi:10.3389/fmars.2021.777865
- Eriksen, M., Mason, S., Wilson, S., Box, C., Zellers, A., Edwards, W., . . . Amato, S. (2013). Microplastic pollution in the surface waters of the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 77(1), 177-182. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.10.007
- FDA. (2019). *Notice of Ministry of Public Health (Thailand)*. Retrieved from https://www.fda.moph.go.th/sites/Cosmetic/Shared%20Documents/Laws
- Fitri, A., Amelia, D., & Karamah, E. (2021). The effect of Ozonation on the chemical structure of microplastics. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 1173, 012017. doi:10.1088/1757-899X/1173/1/012017
- Fotopoulou, K. N., & Karapanagioti, H. K. (2019). Degradation of Various Plastics in the Environment. In H. Takada & H. K. Karapanagioti (Eds.), *Hazardous Chemicals Associated with Plastics in the Marine Environment* (pp. 71-92). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Frère, L., Paul-Pont, I., Moreau, J., Soudant, P., Lambert, C., Huvet, A., & Rinnert, E. J. M. P. B. (2016). A semi-automated Raman micro-spectroscopy method for morphological and chemical characterizations of microplastic litter. *113*(1-2), 461-468.
- Fries, E., Dekiff, J. H., Willmeyer, J., Nuelle, M.-T., Ebert, M., & Remy, D. (2013).
 Identification of polymer types and additives in marine microplastic particles using pyrolysis-GC/MS and scanning electron microscopy. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, 15(10), 1949-1956. doi:10.1039/C3EM00214D
- Galgani, L., Beiras, R., Galgani, F., Panti, C., & Borja, A. (2019). Editorial: Impacts of Marine Litter. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 6. doi:10.3389/fmars.2019.00208
- Gao, Z., Cizdziel, J., Wontor, K., & Lu, H. (2021). Are Rural and Small Community Aerated Wastewater Stabilization Ponds a Neglected Source of Microplastic Pollution? *Water*, 13, 2833. doi:10.3390/w13202833
- Gerba, C. P., & Pepper, I. L. (2019). Chapter 22 Municipal Wastewater Treatment.
 In M. L. Brusseau, I. L. Pepper, & C. P. Gerba (Eds.), *Environmental and Pollution Science (Third Edition)* (pp. 393-418): Academic Press.
- Gewert, B., Plassmann, M. M., & MacLeod, M. (2015). Pathways for degradation of plastic polymers floating in the marine environment. *Environmental Science: Processes & Impacts*, 17(9), 1513-1521. doi:10.1039/C5EM00207A
- Geyer, R., Jambeck, J. R., & Law, K. L. (2017). Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made. *Science Advances*, 3(7), e1700782. doi:10.1126/sciadv.1700782
- Gies, E. A., LeNoble, J. L., Noël, M., Etemadifar, A., Bishay, F., Hall, E. R., & Ross,P. S. (2018). Retention of microplastics in a major secondary wastewater

treatment plant in Vancouver, Canada. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 133*, 553-561. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.06.006</u>

- Green, D., Kregting, L., Boots, B., Blockley, D., Brickle, P., da Costa, M., & Crowley, Q. (2018). A comparison of sampling methods for seawater microplastics and a first report of the microplastic litter in coastal waters of Ascension and Falkland Islands. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 137. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.11.004
- Greenwood, N. N., & Earnshaw, A. (2012). 9 Silicon. In *Chemistry of the Elements* (second ed., pp. 328-366): Elsevier Science.
- Grigore, M. E. J. R. (2017). Methods of recycling, properties and applications of recycled thermoplastic polymers. 2(4), 24.
- Gündoğdu, S., Çevik, C., Güzel, E., & Kilercioğlu, S. (2018). Microplastics in municipal wastewater treatment plants in Turkey: a comparison of the influent and secondary effluent concentrations. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 190*(11). doi:10.1007/s10661-018-7010-y
- Hadad, D., Geresh, S., & Sivan, A. J. J. o. a. m. (2005). Biodegradation of polyethylene by the thermophilic bacterium Brevibacillus borstelensis. 98(5), 1093-1100.
- Hamidian, A. H., Ozumchelouei, E. J., Feizi, F., Wu, C., Zhang, Y., & Yang, M.
 (2021). A review on the characteristics of microplastics in wastewater treatment plants: A source for toxic chemicals. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 295, 126480. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126480
- He, P., Chen, L., Shao, L., Zhang, H., & Lü, F. (2019). Municipal solid waste (MSW) landfill: A source of microplastics? -Evidence of microplastics in landfill leachate. *Water Research*, 159, 38-45. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.04.060
- Helness, H., Sun, C., Damman, S., Ahmadi, M., Raspati, G., Bjerkelund, V., . . .
 Ando, N. (2019). High rate filtration for local treatment of combined sewer overflow. *Water Science and Technology*, *79*(6), 1206-1213. doi:10.2166/wst.2019.121
- Hernandez, E., Nowack, B., & Mitrano, D. M. (2017). Polyester Textiles as a Source of Microplastics from Households: A Mechanistic Study to Understand

Microfiber Release During Washing. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *51*(12), 7036-7046. doi:10.1021/acs.est.7b01750

- Hidalgo-Ruz, V., Gutow, L., Thompson, R. C., & Thiel, M. (2012). Microplastics in the Marine Environment: A Review of the Methods Used for Identification and Quantification. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(6), 3060-3075. doi:10.1021/es2031505
- Hidayaturrahman, H., & Lee, T.-G. (2019). A study on characteristics of microplastic in wastewater of South Korea: Identification, quantification, and fate of microplastics during treatment process. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 146, 696-702. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.06.071
- Hohenblum, P., Liebmann, B., & Liedermann, M. (2015). *Plastic and microplastic in the environment*.
- Hoornweg, D., & Bhada-Tata, P. (2012). What a waste: a global review of solid waste management. *Urban Dev Ser Knowl Pap, 15*, 87-88.
- Hu, Y., Gong, M., Wang, J., & Bassi, A. (2019). Current research trends on microplastic pollution from wastewater systems: a critical review. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology*, 18(2), 207-230. doi:10.1007/s11157-019-09498-w
- Huang, D., Wang, X., Yin, L., Chen, S., Tao, J., Zhou, W., . . . Xiao, R. (2022).
 Research progress of microplastics in soil-plant system: Ecological effects and potential risks. *Science of The Total Environment*, *812*, 151487.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.151487
- Hurley, R. R., Lusher, A. L., Olsen, M., & Nizzetto, L. (2018). Validation of a Method for Extracting Microplastics from Complex, Organic-Rich, Environmental Matrices. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 52(13), 7409-7417. doi:10.1021/acs.est.8b01517
- Ivleva, N. P., Wiesheu, A. C., & Niessner, R. (2017). Microplastic in Aquatic Ecosystems. 56(7), 1720-1739. doi:doi:10.1002/anie.201606957
- Iyare, P. U., Ouki, S. K., & Bond, T. (2020). Microplastics removal in wastewater treatment plants: a critical review. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 6(10), 2664-2675. doi:10.1039/D0EW00397B

- Jambeck, J. R., Geyer, R., Wilcox, C., Siegler, T. R., Perryman, M., Andrady, A., . . . Law, K. L. (2015). Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean. *Science*, 347(6223), 768-771.
- Jiang, L., Chen, M., Huang, Y., Peng, J., Zhao, J., Chan, F., & Yu, X. (2022). Effects of different treatment processes in four municipal wastewater treatment plants on the transport and fate of microplastics. *Science of The Total Environment*, 831, 154946. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154946

Johansson, E., & Ericsson, E.-H. (2018). *Quantification for the Flow of Microplastic Particles in Urban Environment: A Case of the Chao Phraya River, Bangkok Thailand : A Minor Field Study*. (Independent thesis Basic level (degree of Bachelor) Student thesis). Retrieved from <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:kth:diva-230990</u> DiVA database. (18297)

- Kedzierski, M., Le Tilly, V., César, G., Sire, O., & Bruzaud, S. (2017). Efficient microplastics extraction from sand. A cost effective methodology based on sodium iodide recycling. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *115*(1), 120-129. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.12.002
- Kelkar, V. P., Rolsky, C. B., Pant, A., Green, M. D., Tongay, S., & Halden, R. U. (2019). Chemical and physical changes of microplastics during sterilization by chlorination. *Water Research*, *163*, 114871. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.114871
- Kershaw, P. (2015). Sources, fate and effects of microplastics in the marine environment: a global assessment (1020-4873). Retrieved from <u>https://ec.europa.eu/environment/marine/good-environmental-</u> <u>status/descriptor-10/pdf/GESAMP_microplastics%20full%20study.pdf</u>
- Kershaw, P., Turra, A., & Galgani, F. (2019). Guidelines for the monitoring and assessment of plastic litter and microplastics in the ocean.
- Kirstein, I. V., Gomiero, A., & Vollertsen, J. (2021). Microplastic pollution in drinking water. *Current Opinion in Toxicology*, 28, 70-75. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cotox.2021.09.003</u>
- Klangnurak, W., & Chunniyom, S. (2020). Screening for microplastics in marine fish of Thailand: the accumulation of microplastics in the gastrointestinal tract of

different foraging preferences. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 27(21), 27161-27168. doi:10.1007/s11356-020-09147-8

- Klein, R. (2012). Laser welding of plastics: materials, processes and industrial applications: John Wiley & Sons.
- Klein, S., Dimzon, I. K., Eubeler, J., & Knepper, T. P. (2018). Analysis, Occurrence, and Degradation of Microplastics in the Aqueous Environment. In M. Wagner & S. Lambert (Eds.), *Freshwater Microplastics : Emerging Environmental Contaminants?* (pp. 51-67). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Kole, P. J., Löhr, A. J., Van Belleghem, F. G. A. J., & Ragas, A. M. J. (2017). Wear and Tear of Tyres: A Stealthy Source of Microplastics in the Environment. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(10), 1265. Retrieved from https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/14/10/1265
- Koyuncuoğlu, P., & Erden, G. (2021). Sampling, pre-treatment, and identification methods of microplastics in sewage sludge and their effects in agricultural soils: a review. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 193(4), 175. doi:10.1007/s10661-021-08943-0
- Kumar, M., Xiong, X., He, M., Tsang, D. C. W., Gupta, J., Khan, E., . . . Bolan, N. S. (2020). Microplastics as pollutants in agricultural soils. *Environmental Pollution*, 265, 114980. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114980</u>
- Kumar, R., & Ismail, A. F. (2015). Fouling control on microfiltration/ultrafiltration membranes: Effects of morphology, hydrophilicity, and charge. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 132(21). doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/app.42042</u>
- Kusch, P., Schroeder-Obst, D., Obst, V., Knupp, G., Fink, W., & Steinhaus, J. (2016). Chapter 17 - Application of pyrolysis-gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (Py-GC/MS) and scanning electron microscopy (SEM) in failure analysis for the identification of organic compounds in chemical, rubber, and automotive industry. In A. S. H. Makhlouf & M. Aliofkhazraei (Eds.), *Handbook of Materials Failure Analysis with Case Studies from the Chemicals, Concrete and Power Industries* (pp. 441-469): Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Lares, M., Ncibi, M. C., Sillanpää, M., & Sillanpää, M. (2018). Occurrence, identification and removal of microplastic particles and fibers in conventional

activated sludge process and advanced MBR technology. *Water Res, 133*, 236-246. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2018.01.049

- Lassen, C., Hansen, S. F., Magnusson, K., Norén, F., Hartmann, N. I. B., Jensen, P. R., . . . Brinch, A. (2012). Microplastics-Occurrence, effects and sources of. *Significance*, 2(2).
- Lee, H., & Kim, Y. (2018). Treatment characteristics of microplastics at biological sewage treatment facilities in Korea. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 137, 1-8. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.09.050</u>
- Leslie, H. A., Brandsma, S. H., van Velzen, M. J. M., & Vethaak, A. D. (2017). Microplastics en route: Field measurements in the Dutch river delta and Amsterdam canals, wastewater treatment plants, North Sea sediments and biota. *Environment International*, 101, 133-142. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.01.018</u>
- Li, H., Wu, S., Du, C., Zhong, Y., & Yang, C. (2020). Preparation, Performances, and Mechanisms of Microbial Flocculants for Wastewater Treatment. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 17(4). doi:10.3390/ijerph17041360
- Li, J., Liu, H., & Paul Chen, J. (2018a). Microplastics in freshwater systems: A review on occurrence, environmental effects, and methods for microplastics detection. *Water Research*, 137, 362-374. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.12.056
- Li, L., Zhou, Q., Yin, N., Tu, C., & Luo, Y. (2019). Uptake and accumulation of microplastics in an edible plant. *Chinese Science Bulletin*, 64(9), 928-934.
- Li, W. C., Tse, H. F., & Fok, L. (2016). Plastic waste in the marine environment: A review of sources, occurrence and effects. *Science of The Total Environment*, 566-567, 333-349. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.084</u>
- Li, X., Chen, L., Mei, Q., Dong, B., Dai, X., Ding, G., & Zeng, E. Y. (2018b).
 Microplastics in sewage sludge from the wastewater treatment plants in China.
 Water Research, 142, 75-85. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.05.034</u>
- Li, Z., Li, Q., Li, R., Zhou, J., & Wang, G. (2021). The distribution and impact of polystyrene nanoplastics on cucumber plants. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(13), 16042-16053.

- Liu, F., Nord, N. B., Bester, K., & Vollertsen, J. (2020). Microplastics Removal from Treated Wastewater by a Biofilter. *Water*, 12(4). doi:10.3390/w12041085
- Liu, W., Zhang, J., Liu, H., Guo, X., Zhang, X., Yao, X., . . . Zhang, T. (2021). A review of the removal of microplastics in global wastewater treatment plants: Characteristics and mechanisms. *Environment International*, *146*, 106277. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106277
- Liu, X., Yuan, W., Di, M., Li, Z., & Wang, J. (2019). Transfer and fate of microplastics during the conventional activated sludge process in one wastewater treatment plant of China. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 362, 176-182. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.01.033
- Löder, M. G., & Gerdts, G. (2015a). Methodology used for the detection and identification of microplastics—A critical appraisal. In *Marine anthropogenic litter* (pp. 201-227): Springer.
- Löder, M. G. J., & Gerdts, G. (2015b). Methodology Used for the Detection and Identification of Microplastics—A Critical Appraisal. In M. Bergmann, L. Gutow, & M. Klages (Eds.), *Marine Anthropogenic Litter* (pp. 201-227). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Löder, M. G. J., Imhof, H. K., Ladehoff, M., Löschel, L. A., Lorenz, C., Mintenig, S., ... Gerdts, G. (2017). Enzymatic Purification of Microplastics in Environmental Samples. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51(24), 14283-14292. doi:10.1021/acs.est.7b03055
- Long, Z., Pan, Z., Wang, W., Ren, J., Yu, X., Lin, L., . . . Jin, X. (2019). Microplastic abundance, characteristics, and removal in wastewater treatment plants in a coastal city of China. *Water Research*, 155, 255-265. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.02.028</u>
- Lu, H.-C., Ziajahromi, S., Locke, A., Neale, P. A., & Leusch, F. D. L. (2022).
 Microplastics profile in constructed wetlands: Distribution, retention and implications. *Environmental Pollution*, *313*, 120079. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.120079
- Lusher, A. L., Welden, N. A., Sobral, P., & Cole, M. (2017). Sampling, isolating and identifying microplastics ingested by fish and invertebrates. *Analytical Methods*, 9(9), 1346-1360. doi:10.1039/C6AY02415G

- Lv, X., Dong, Q., Zuo, Z., Liu, Y., Huang, X., & Wu, W.-M. (2019). Microplastics in a municipal wastewater treatment plant: Fate, dynamic distribution, removal efficiencies, and control strategies. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 225, 579-586. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.321</u>
- Ma, B., Xue, W., Hu, C., Liu, H., Qu, J., & Li, L. (2019). Characteristics of microplastic removal via coagulation and ultrafiltration during drinking water treatment. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 359, 159-167. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.11.155
- Maes, T., Jessop, R., Wellner, N., Haupt, K., & Mayes, A. G. (2017). A rapidscreening approach to detect and quantify microplastics based on fluorescent tagging with Nile Red. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 44501. doi:10.1038/srep44501
- Magni, S., Binelli, A., Pittura, L., Avio, C. G., Della Torre, C., Parenti, C. C., . . .
 Regoli, F. (2019). The fate of microplastics in an Italian Wastewater
 Treatment Plant. *Science of The Total Environment*, 652, 602-610.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.269
- Magnusson, K., & Norén, F. (2014). Screening of microplastic particles in and downstream a wastewater treatment plant. Retrieved from <u>http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:naturvardsverket:diva-2226</u>
- Mahon, A. M., Connell, B., Healy, M., O'Connor, I., Officer, R., Nash, R., &
 Morrison, L. (2016). Microplastics in Sewage Sludge: Effects of Treatment. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 51. doi:10.1021/acs.est.6b04048
- Mahon, A. M., O'Connell, B., Healy, M. G., O'Connor, I., Officer, R., Nash, R., & Morrison, L. (2017). Microplastics in Sewage Sludge: Effects of Treatment. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *51*(2), 810-818. doi:10.1021/acs.est.6b04048
- Mani, T., Hauk, A., Walter, U., & Burkhardt-Holm, P. (2015). *Microplastics profile along the Rhine River* (Vol. 5).
- Mason, S. A., Garneau, D., Sutton, R., Chu, Y., Ehmann, K., Barnes, J., ... Rogers, D. L. (2016). Microplastic pollution is widely detected in US municipal wastewater treatment plant effluent. *Environmental Pollution*, 218, 1045-1054. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.08.056</u>

Masura, J., Baker, J., Foster, G., & Arthur, C. (2015). Laboratory Methods for the Analysis of Microplastics in the Marine Environment: Recommendations for quantifying synthetic particles in waters and sediments. NOAA Retrieved from <u>https://marinedebris.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/publications-</u> <u>files/noaa_microplastics_methods_manual.pdf</u>

Matsumura, S. (2005). Mechanism of biodegradation. In (pp. 357-410).

- McCormick, A. R., Hoellein, T. J., London, M. G., Hittie, J., Scott, J. W., & Kelly, J. J. (2016). Microplastic in surface waters of urban rivers: concentration, sources, and associated bacterial assemblages. *Ecosphere*, 7(11), e01556.
- McIlwraith, H. K., Lin, J., Erdle, L. M., Mallos, N., Diamond, M. L., & Rochman, C. M. (2019). Capturing microfibers marketed technologies reduce microfiber emissions from washing machines. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 139, 40-45. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.12.012</u>
- Michielssen, M. R., Michielssen, E. R., Ni, J., & Duhaime, M. B. (2016). Fate of microplastics and other small anthropogenic litter (SAL) in wastewater treatment plants depends on unit processes employed. *Environmental Science:* Water Research & Technology, 2(6), 1064-1073. doi:10.1039/C6EW00207B
- Militky, J. (2009). 9 The chemistry, manufacture and tensile behaviour of polyester fibers. In A. R. Bunsell (Ed.), *Handbook of Tensile Properties of Textile and Technical Fibres* (pp. 223-314): Woodhead Publishing.
- Mintenig, S. M., Int-Veen, I., Löder, M. G. J., Primpke, S., & Gerdts, G. (2017).
 Identification of microplastic in effluents of waste water treatment plants using focal plane array-based micro-Fourier-transform infrared imaging. *Water Research*, 108, 365-372. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.11.015</u>
- Munno, K., Helm, P. A., Jackson, D. A., Rochman, C., & Sims, A. (2018). Impacts of temperature and selected chemical digestion methods on microplastic particles. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 37(1), 91-98. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3935</u>
- Murphy, F., Ewins, C., Carbonnier, F., & Quinn, B. (2016). Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW) as a Source of Microplastics in the Aquatic Environment. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(11), 5800-5808. doi:10.1021/acs.est.5b05416

- Nalbone, L., Panebianco, A., Giarratana, F., & Russell, M. (2021). Nile Red staining for detecting microplastics in biota: Preliminary evidence. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 172, 112888. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112888</u>
- Napper, I. E., Bakir, A., Rowland, S. J., & Thompson, R. C. (2015). Characterisation, quantity and sorptive properties of microplastics extracted from cosmetics. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 99(1), 178-185. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.07.029
- Napper, I. E., Barrett, A. C., & Thompson, R. C. (2020). The efficiency of devices intended to reduce microfibre release during clothes washing. *Science of The Total Environment*, 738, 140412. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140412
- Napper, I. E., & Thompson, R. C. (2016). Release of synthetic microplastic plastic fibres from domestic washing machines: Effects of fabric type and washing conditions. *Mar Pollut Bull*, 112(1-2), 39-45. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.09.025
- Ngo, P. L., Pramanik, B. K., Shah, K., & Roychand, R. (2019). Pathway, classification and removal efficiency of microplastics in wastewater treatment plants. *Environmental Pollution*, 255, 113326. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113326</u>
- Nizzetto, L., Futter, M., & Langaas, S. (2016). Are Agricultural Soils Dumps for Microplastics of Urban Origin? *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(20), 10777-10779. doi:10.1021/acs.est.6b04140
- Norén, F. (2007). Small plastic particles in Coastal Swedish waters. Retrieved from <u>https://www.n-</u>

research.se/pdf/Small%20plastic%20particles%20in%20Swedish%20West%2 0Coast%20Waters.pdf

Okoffo, E. D., O'Brien, S., O'Brien, J. W., Tscharke, B. J., & Thomas, K. V. (2019).
Wastewater treatment plants as a source of plastics in the environment: a review of occurrence, methods for identification, quantification and fate. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 5(11), 1908-1931.
doi:10.1039/C9EW00428A

- Othman, A. R., Hasan, H. A., Muhamad, M. H., Ismail, N. I., & Abdullah, S. R. S. (2021). Microbial degradation of microplastics by enzymatic processes: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 19(4), 3057-3073. doi:10.1007/s10311-021-01197-9
- PCD. (2021). สถานการณ์มลพิษของประเทศไทยปี 2563 [Pollution status in Thailand 2020]. Pollution Control Department, Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment, Thailand Retrieved from <u>https://www.pcd.go.th/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/03/pcdnew-2021-03-15_08-53-26_043924.pdf</u>
- Picos-Corrales, L. A., Sarmiento-Sánchez, J. I., Ruelas-Leyva, J. P., Crini, G., Hermosillo-Ochoa, E., & Gutierrez-Montes, J. A. (2020). Environment-Friendly Approach toward the Treatment of Raw Agricultural Wastewater and River Water via Flocculation Using Chitosan and Bean Straw Flour as Bioflocculants. ACS Omega, 5(8), 3943-3951. doi:10.1021/acsomega.9b03419
- Piyawardhana, N., Weerathunga, V., Chen, H.-S., Guo, L., Huang, P.-J., Ranatunga, R. R. M. K. P., & Hung, C.-C. (2022). Occurrence of microplastics in commercial marine dried fish in Asian countries. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 423, 127093. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.127093</u>
- Plastics Europe. (2017). Plastics The Facts 2017: An Analysis of European Plastics Production, Demand and Waste Data. Retrieved from <u>https://www.plasticseurope.org/application/files/4315/1310/4805/plastic-</u> <u>thefact-2016.pdf</u>
- PlasticsEurope. (2021). Plastics the Facts 2021, an analysis of European plastics production, demand and waste data.
- Quinn, B., Murphy, F., & Ewins, C. (2017). Validation of density separation for the rapid recovery of microplastics from sediment. *Analytical Methods*, 9(9), 1491-1498. doi:10.1039/C6AY02542K
- Rashid, C. P., Jyothibabu, R., Arunpandi, N., Abhijith, V. T., Josna, M. P., Vidhya, V., . . . Ramanamurty, M. V. (2021). Microplastics in zooplankton in the eastern Arabian Sea: The threats they pose to fish and corals favoured by coastal currents. *Marine Pollution Bulletin, 173*, 113042. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.113042</u>

- Razeghi, N., Hamidian, A. H., Wu, C., Zhang, Y., & Yang, M. (2021). Scientific studies on microplastics pollution in Iran: An in-depth review of the published articles. *Mar Pollut Bull*, 162, 111901. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111901
- Ribeiro Claro, P., Nolasco, M., & Araújo, C. (2016). *Characterization of Microplastics by Raman Spectroscopy* (Vol. 75).
- Rizzo, A., Tondera, K., Pálfy, T. G., Dittmer, U., Meyer, D., Schreiber, C., . . . Masi,
 F. (2020). Constructed wetlands for combined sewer overflow treatment: A state-of-the-art review. *Science of The Total Environment*, 727, 138618.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138618
- Rocha-Santos, T., & Duarte, A. C. (2015). A critical overview of the analytical approaches to the occurrence, the fate and the behavior of microplastics in the environment. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 65, 47-53. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2014.10.011</u>
- Rocha-Santos, T. A. P., & Duarte, A. C. (2017). Characterization and Analysis of Microplastics: Elsevier Science.
- Rocher, V., Paffoni, C., Gonçalves, A., Guérin, S., Azimi, S., Gasperi, J., . . . Pauss,
 A. (2012). Municipal wastewater treatment by biofiltration: comparisons of various treatment layouts. Part 1: assessment of carbon and nitrogen removal. *Water Sci Technol*, 65(9), 1705-1712. doi:10.2166/wst.2012.105
- Rochman, C., Andrady, A., Dudas, S., Fabres, J., Galgani, F., lead, D., . . . Amaral-Zettler, L. (2016). SOURCES, FATE AND EFFECTS OF MICROPLASTICS IN THE MARINE ENVIRONMENT: PART 2 OF A GLOBAL ASSESSMENT.
- Ruan, Y., Zhang, K., Wu, C., Wu, R., & Lam, P. K. S. (2019). A preliminary screening of HBCD enantiomers transported by microplastics in wastewater treatment plants. *Science of The Total Environment*, 674, 171-178. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.007
- Rummel, C. D., Jahnke, A., Gorokhova, E., Kühnel, D., & Schmitt-Jansen, M. (2017).
 Impacts of Biofilm Formation on the Fate and Potential Effects of
 Microplastic in the Aquatic Environment. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 4(7), 258-267. doi:10.1021/acs.estlett.7b00164
- Salvador Cesa, F., Turra, A., & Baruque-Ramos, J. (2017). Synthetic fibers as microplastics in the marine environment: A review from textile perspective

with a focus on domestic washings. *Science of The Total Environment*, *598*, 1116-1129. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.04.172</u>

- Schymanski, D., Goldbeck, C., Humpf, H.-U., & Fürst, P. (2018). Analysis of microplastics in water by micro-Raman spectroscopy: Release of plastic particles from different packaging into mineral water. *Water Research*, 129, 154-162. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.11.011
- Sewerage, D. o. D. a. ประวัติกวามเป็นมา (History of Department of Drainage and Sewerage). Department of Drainage and Sewerage, Bangkok Metropolitan Administration, Thailand Retrieved from http://dds.bangkok.go.th/about2_8.php
- Shackelford, J. F. (2016). *Introduction to Materials Science for Engineers* (8 ed.): Pearson Education
- Shah, A. A., Hasan, F., Hameed, A., & Ahmed, S. (2008). Biological degradation of plastics: A comprehensive review. *Biotechnology Advances*, 26(3), 246-265. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2007.12.005</u>
- Shen, M., Hu, T., Huang, W., Song, B., Qin, M., Yi, H., . . . Zhang, Y. (2021). Can incineration completely eliminate plastic wastes? An investigation of microplastics and heavy metals in the bottom ash and fly ash from an incineration plant. *Science of The Total Environment*, 779, 146528. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146528
- Shim, W. J., Song, Y. K., Hong, S. H., & Jang, M. (2016). Identification and quantification of microplastics using Nile Red staining. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 113(1), 469-476. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.10.049</u>
- Simon, M., van Alst, N., & Vollertsen, J. (2018). Quantification of microplastic mass and removal rates at wastewater treatment plants applying Focal Plane Array (FPA)-based Fourier Transform Infrared (FT-IR) imaging. *Water Research*, 142, 1-9. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.05.019</u>
- Sonune, A., & Ghate, R. (2004). Developments in wastewater treatment methods. *Desalination*, 167, 55-63. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2004.06.113</u>
- Sun, J., Dai, X., Wang, Q., van Loosdrecht, M. C. M., & Ni, B.-J. (2019). Microplastics in wastewater treatment plants: Detection, occurrence and

removal. *Water Research*, *152*, 21-37. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.12.050</u>

- Sutton, R., Mason, S. A., Stanek, S. K., Willis-Norton, E., Wren, I. F., & Box, C. (2016). Microplastic contamination in the San Francisco Bay, California, USA. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 109(1), 230-235. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.05.077</u>
- Tagg, A. S., Brandes, E., Fischer, F., Fischer, D., Brandt, J., & Labrenz, M. (2021). Agricultural application of microplastic-rich sewage sludge leads to further uncontrolled contamination. *Science of The Total Environment*, 150611. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150611
- Tagg, A. S., Harrison, J. P., Ju-Nam, Y., Sapp, M., Bradley, E. L., Sinclair, C. J., & Ojeda, J. J. (2017). Fenton's reagent for the rapid and efficient isolation of microplastics from wastewater. *Chemical Communications*, 53(2), 372-375. doi:10.1039/C6CC08798A
- Tagg, A. S., Sapp, M., Harrison, J. P., & Ojeda, J. J. (2015). Identification and Quantification of Microplastics in Wastewater Using Focal Plane Array-Based Reflectance Micro-FT-IR Imaging. *Analytical Chemistry*, 87(12), 6032-6040. doi:10.1021/acs.analchem.5b00495
- Talvitie, J., Heinonen, M., Pääkkönen, J.-P., Vahtera, E., Mikola, A., Setälä, O., & Vahala, R. (2015). Do wastewater treatment plants act as a potential point source of microplastics? Preliminary study in the coastal Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea. *Water science and technology : a journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research*, 72, 1495-1504. doi:10.2166/wst.2015.360
- Talvitie, J., Mikola, A., Koistinen, A., & Setälä, O. (2017a). Solutions to microplastic pollution – Removal of microplastics from wastewater effluent with advanced wastewater treatment technologies. *Water Research*, 123. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2017.07.005
- Talvitie, J., Mikola, A., Setälä, O., Heinonen, M., & Koistinen, A. (2017b). How well is microlitter purified from wastewater? - A detailed study on the stepwise removal of microlitter in a tertiary level wastewater treatment plant. *Water Res, 109*, 164-172. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2016.11.046

- Tamminga, M., Hengstmann, E., & Fischer, E. (2017). Nile Red Staining as a Subsidiary Method for Microplastic Quantifica-tion: A Comparison of Three Solvents and Factors Influencing Application Reliability. SDRP Journal of Earth Sciences & Environmental Studies, 2. doi:10.15436/JESES.2.2.1
- Tang, K. H. D., & Hadibarata, T. (2021). Microplastics removal through water treatment plants: Its feasibility, efficiency, future prospects and enhancement by proper waste management. *Environmental Challenges*, 5, 100264. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envc.2021.100264
- TDRI. (2021, December 17, 2021). Disparity worsens ocean pollution. Retrieved from <u>https://tdri.or.th/en/2021/06/disparity-worsens-ocean-pollution/</u>
- The Office of Consumer Affairs. (2019). *SPI Symbols*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/Oca-bc.nsf/eng/ca02747.html</u>
- Thompson, R., Olsen, Y., Mitchell, R., Davis, A., Rowland, S., John, A., . . . Russell, A. (2004). Lost at Sea: Where Is All the Plastic? *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 304, 838. doi:10.1126/science.1094559
- Thompson, R. C., Moore, C. J., vom Saal, F. S., & Swan, S. H. (2009a). Plastics, the environment and human health: current consensus and future trends. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences, 364*(1526), 2153-2166. doi:10.1098/rstb.2009.0053
- Thompson, R. C., Swan, S. H., Moore, C. J., & vom Saal, F. S. (2009b). Our plastic age. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences, 364(1526), 1973-1976. doi:10.1098/rstb.2009.0054
- Thushari, G. G. N., Senevirathna, J. D. M., Yakupitiyage, A., & Chavanich, S. (2017).
 Effects of microplastics on sessile invertebrates in the eastern coast of
 Thailand: An approach to coastal zone conservation. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 124(1), 349-355. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.06.010</u>
- Valavanidis, A. (2016). Global Plastic Waste and Oceans' Pollution. Million Tons of Plastic Waste Have Gone Missing in the World Oceans? WEB-SITE: <u>www.chem.uoa.gr</u>, Scientific Reports, 1, 1-39.
- Vollertsen, J., & Hansen, A. A. (2017). Microplastic in Danish wastewater: Sources, occurrences and fate.

- Vuori, L., & Ollikainen, M. (2022). How to remove microplastics in wastewater? A cost-effectiveness analysis. *Ecological Economics*, 192, 107246. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2021.107246</u>
- Walker, T. R., Adebambo, O., Del Aguila Feijoo, M. C., Elhaimer, E., Hossain, T.,
 Edwards, S. J., . . . Zomorodi, S. (2019). Chapter 27 Environmental Effects
 of Marine Transportation. In C. Sheppard (Ed.), *World Seas: an*Environmental Evaluation (Second Edition) (pp. 505-530): Academic Press.
- Wang, F., Wong, C. S., Chen, D., Lu, X., Wang, F., & Zeng, E. Y. (2018). Interaction of toxic chemicals with microplastics: A critical review. *Water Research*, 139, 208-219. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.04.003</u>
- Wang, L.-C., Lin, J. C.-T., Dong, C.-D., Chen, C.-W., & Liu, T.-K. (2021a). The sorption of persistent organic pollutants in microplastics from the coastal environment. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 420, 126658. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.126658</u>
- Wang, Q., Hernández-Crespo, C., Du, B., Van Hulle, S. W. H., & Rousseau, D. P. L. (2021b). Fate and removal of microplastics in unplanted lab-scale vertical flow constructed wetlands. *Science of The Total Environment*, 778, 146152. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146152</u>
- Wang, Q., Hernández-Crespo, C., Santoni, M., Van Hulle, S., & Rousseau, D. P. L. (2020). Horizontal subsurface flow constructed wetlands as tertiary treatment: Can they be an efficient barrier for microplastics pollution? *Science of The Total Environment*, 721, 137785.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137785
- Wang, W., Ndungu, A. W., Li, Z., & Wang, J. (2017). Microplastics pollution in inland freshwaters of China: A case study in urban surface waters of Wuhan, China. *Science of The Total Environment*, 575, 1369-1374. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.213</u>
- Watkins, L., Sullivan, P. J., & Walter, M. T. (2021). What You Net Depends on if You Grab: A Meta-analysis of Sampling Method's Impact on Measured Aquatic Microplastic Concentration. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 55(19), 12930-12942. doi:10.1021/acs.est.1c03019

- Westphalen, H., & Abdelrasoul, A. (2018). Challenges and Treatment of Microplastics in Water. In M. Glavan (Ed.), Water Challenges of an Urbanizing World.
- Wilczura-Wachnik, H. *Combustion and thermal degradation of polymers*. Retrieved from http://beta.chem.uw.edu.pl/people/AMyslinski/Polimery_i_biomaterialy /PB6_theory.pdf
- Wright, S. L., Thompson, R. C., & Galloway, T. S. (2013). The physical impacts of microplastics on marine organisms: A review. *Environmental Pollution*, 178, 483-492. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.02.031
- Xu, D., Yin, X., Zhou, S., Jiang, Y., Xi, X., Sun, H., & Wang, J. (2022). A review on the remediation of microplastics using constructed wetlands: Bibliometric, cooccurrence, current trends, and future directions. *Chemosphere*, 303, 134990. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2022.134990</u>
- Yang, L., Li, K., Cui, S., Kang, Y., An, L., & Lei, K. (2019a). Removal of microplastics in municipal sewage from China's largest water reclamation plant. *Water Research*, 155, 175-181. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.02.046
- Yang, L., Qiao, F., Lei, K., Li, H., Kang, Y., Cui, S., & An, L.-h. (2019b). Microfiber release from different fabrics during washing. *Environmental Pollution*, 249. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2019.03.011
- Yang, Z., Li, S., Ma, S., Liu, P., Peng, D., Ouyang, Z., & Guo, X. (2021a).
 Characteristics and removal efficiency of microplastics in sewage treatment plant of Xi'an City, northwest China. *Science of The Total Environment*, 771, 145377. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145377</u>
- Yang, Z., Lü, F., Zhang, H., Wang, W., Shao, L., Ye, J., & He, P. (2021b). Is incineration the terminator of plastics and microplastics? *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 401, 123429.
 doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123429</u>
- Yu, Z.-f., Song, S., Xu, X.-l., Ma, Q., & Lu, Y. (2021). Sources, migration, accumulation and influence of microplastics in terrestrial plant communities. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 192, 104635. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2021.104635

- Zambrano, M. C., Pawlak, J. J., Daystar, J., Ankeny, M., Cheng, J. J., & Venditti, R.
 A. (2019). Microfibers generated from the laundering of cotton, rayon and polyester based fabrics and their aquatic biodegradation. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 142, 394-407. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.02.062</u>
- Zhang, L., Carvalho, P. N., Bollmann, U. E., Ei-Taliawy, H., Brix, H., & Bester, K. (2019). Enhanced removal of pharmaceuticals in a biofilter: Effects of manipulating co-degradation by carbon feeding. *Chemosphere*, 236, 124303. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.07.034
- Zhang, L., Liu, J., Xie, Y., Zhong, S., & Gao, P. (2021). Occurrence and removal of microplastics from wastewater treatment plants in a typical tourist city in China. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 291, 125968.
 doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.125968</u>
- Zhang, W., Zhang, S., Wang, J., Wang, Y., Mu, J., Wang, P., . . . Ma, D. (2017).
 Microplastic pollution in the surface waters of the Bohai Sea, China. *Environmental Pollution*, 231, 541-548.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.08.058
- Zhang, X.-H. (2014). The Study on Flocculation Treating Wastewater from Domestic Animals and Poultry Breeding. *IERI Procedia*, 9, 2-7. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ieri.2014.09.032</u>
- Zhang, Z., & Chen, Y. (2020). Effects of microplastics on wastewater and sewage sludge treatment and their removal: A review. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 382, 122955. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.122955</u>
- Zhou, X., Zhao, Y., Pang, G., Jia, X., Song, Y., Guo, A., . . . Ji, M. (2022).
 Microplastic abundance, characteristics and removal in large-scale multi-stage constructed wetlands for effluent polishing in northern China. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 430, 132752.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2021.132752
- Ziajahromi, S., Neale, P. A., Rintoul, L., & Leusch, F. D. L. (2017). Wastewater treatment plants as a pathway for microplastics: Development of a new approach to sample wastewater-based microplastics. *Water Research*, 112, 93-99. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.01.042</u>

- Ziajahromi, S., Neale, P. A., Telles Silveira, I., Chua, A., & Leusch, F. D. L. (2021). An audit of microplastic abundance throughout three Australian wastewater treatment plants. *Chemosphere*, 263, 128294. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128294
- Zou, Y., Ye, C., & Pan, Y. (2021). Abundance and characteristics of microplastics in municipal wastewater treatment plant effluent: a case study of Guangzhou, China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(9), 11572-11585. doi:10.1007/s11356-020-11431-6
- Zubris, K. A. V., & Richards, B. K. (2005). Synthetic fibers as an indicator of land application of sludge. *Environmental Pollution*, 138(2), 201-211. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2005.04.013</u>



APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

TYPES OF RESIDENTS IN THE SERVICE AREA OF THREE WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANTS IN BANGKOK

Table A.1 the number of different types of residents in the service area of three	WWTPs
in Bangkok in this study.	

Types of residents	Community housing	Suburban housing	Urban housing	Housing estate	High-rise building	Slum
Nong Khaem WWTP	0	27	48	34	2	34
Din Daeng WWTP	2	4	<u> </u>	73	31	64
Bang Sue WWTP	0	10	1	35	29	91

APPENDIX B POLYMER TYPE IDENTIFICATION OF MPs

B.1 Analysis of MPs by ATR-FTIR



Figure B.1 Red fiber from the influent of Bang Sue WWTP identified by ATR-FT-IR connected to microscope as polyethylene terephthalate (PET)

		2	2		
⊢ %80	FAC SB_Point 1				
⊥% 50	POLYEHTYLENE (Mn 6500) Match:81.94				- V
⊥ % 50	Ethylene/propylene copolymer Match:80.65				Y
⊥ % 50	POLYEHTYLENE (Mn 1400) Match:79.63				V
⊥ % 50	POLYEHTYLENE (Mn 1800) Match:78.99				V
⊥ % 50	Polyethylene, oxidized Match:78.06				V
	3500	3000	2500 2000 Vavenumbers (cm-1)	1500	1000

Figure B.2 Fragment from the outlet of facultative pond from Sing Buri WWTP identified by ATR-FT-IR connected to microscope as polyethylene (PE)

BIOGRAPHY

Name Katekanya Tadsuwan Education 2015: Bachelor of Science (Environmental Science) International College, Mahidol University 2018: Master of Engineering (Engineering Technology) Sirindhorn International Institute of Technology, Thammasat University

Publications

- Tadsuwan, K., & Babel, S. (2019). Microplastic contamination in Din Daeng wastewater treatment plant. In Proceeding of the 5th EnvironmentAsia International Conference (EnvironmentAsia 2019) (pp. 56-64). Chiang Mai, Thailand.
- Tadsuwan, K., & Babel, S. (2021). Microplastic contamination in a conventional wastewater treatment plant in Thailand. *Waste Manag Res*, *39*(5), 754-761.
- Tadsuwan, K., & Babel, S. (2022). Microplastic abundance and removal via an ultrafiltration system coupled to a conventional municipal wastewater treatment plant in Thailand. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 10(2), 107142.
- Tadsuwan, K., & Babel, S. (2022) Unraveling microplastics removal in wastewater treatment plant: a comparative study of two wastewater treatment plants in Thailand. *Chemosphere*, 307, 135733.